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1.

Performance Report.

1.1 Welcome & Introduction.
Welcome to the Fourth Annual Report for NHS Liverpool CCG.
Primary care services are at the heart of what the NHS delivers and during 2016/17
we have continued to increase investment in primary and community services with
significant results. We are proud that primary care in Liverpool continues to go from
strength to strength, with more appointments offered by our member practices, and
evidence that teams are working harder than ever and achieving improved care for
their patients. This commitment to delivering high quality care was brought into sharp
focus in the year when another of our practices the Brownlow Group Practice were
recognised as ‘outstanding’ by the Care Quality Commission and 30 other Practices
rated as ‘good’ during the year when a total of 31 inspections were carried out.
In community services, we now have Community Care Teams in place across the
city, combing health and social care workers working alongside general practices
and serving populations of 30-50,000. As a result of these developments, emergency
admissions are reducing in the city, which means far better care and quality of life for
some of our most vulnerable people.
This focus on transforming primary and community services is all part of Healthy
Liverpool which is now well into implementation. As part of this, we have made
tremendous strides with our Physical Activity Strategy, working in partnership with
the Local Authority. Our 'Fit for Me’ campaign has had major media coverage and
has now seen over 10,000 new participants in physical activities of all types, with
almost 65% of Liverpool adults now active, moving the city from bottom of the core
cities group at the start of the campaign, to now 4th overall.
Work to transform hospital services is also moving ahead, with proposals for the
future of women's and neonatal services developed and widely shared, and
proposals for making changes to orthopaedics and ENT services moving forward.
This will only be strengthened by our two biggest acute services providers the Royal
Liverpool University & Broadgreen University Hospitals Trust and Aintree University
Foundation Trust confirming their intention to merge and moving ahead with plans to
start this process.
All the work of Healthy Liverpool over the last four years has given us a great
platform for working on a North Mersey footprint with neighbouring CCGs and Local
Authorities. We now have a strong Local Delivery Plan, developed from Healthy
Liverpool, which we hope will secure clinically and financially sustainable services
over the coming years which is essential given the challenges faced by the NHS. We
can't stand still as a CCG; we have been actively exploring how we strengthen our
work in partnership with other local commissioners, with a clear commitment to doing
the right thing for local people, patients and the system.
We recognise that health is dependent on many factors which are outside our direct
control, and that we cannot achieve our ambitions alone. We have sought to further
strengthen our joint working with Liverpool City Council, symbolised by our
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commitment to the joint Integrated Programme Director role across mental health,
learning disability, older people and children’s services.
But none of this can be achieved without the fantastic staff who work for the CCG.
We continue to be proud of the people working for the CCG; without their talents and
commitment we simply would not be able to deliver the changes and improvements
in services required. It is also a great achievement by staff working in the CCG that
we have been awarded the Workplace Health and Wellbeing Charter, and are one of
the first CCGs in the country to do so.

We are keen to hear your thoughts on our work, and for you to become more
involved in shaping the health and health services for the people of this great city.

Nadim Fazlani

Katherine Sheerin

Chair

Chief Officer

Liverpool CCG

Liverpool CCG
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1.2 Member Practices Introduction.
Liverpool CCG, in its fourth year of operation, has continued to actively seek and
involve GPs and their practices to help further develop the organisation, its culture,
behaviours and decision making processes. Local engagement with practices
remains a key organisational foundation and priority, with a continued emphasis on
engagement and involvement through both the use of local neighbourhoods and the
three localities.
Liverpool CCG in 2016/17, like the majority of clinical commissioning groups, has
faced a challenging year, with demand and patient acuity increasing in a challenging
resource environment. As a member based organisation the relationship and ties
between the CCG as the formal statutory body and its membership practices has
remained critical to moving forward. The depth of that relationship is strongly signalled
by the continued presence of lead GPs from the localities who remain co- opted onto
the CCG Governing Body, alongside the nine elected GPs.
At the local level, practices continue to be engaged within neighbourhoods and
information from those neighbourhood discussions flows to and from the locality
leadership team meetings. Reports from these meetings are subsequently seen and
discussed by the Governing Body on a regular basis. In this way, the CCG seeks to
achieve good engagement with its Member Practices.
The CCG commitment to engagement extends further to the Local Medical
Committee (LMC) that has continued to be consulted on matters affecting general
practice and primary care through involvement on the Primary Care Committee. In
addition, there has been reciprocal membership between the LMC and CCG bodies
through the Vice Clinical Chairman of the CCG and Secretary of the LMC.
Like any relationship it can at times of high demand and pressure become strained,
and our relationship with the CCG like any other can experience such pressures,
particularly when resources are challenged. What is important is that where issues
have arisen we have continued to talk and discuss how we can move forward and
achieve a sensible balance between the needs of individual practices and the Clinical
Commissioning Group as a whole.
As a group we remain committed to working with all GPs and practices, supporting
them through the changes and challenges ahead. The CCG continues to value its
work with the LMC and the contribution this can make to delivery of the CCG’s health
priorities for the local community we serve.

Dr Rob Barnet, Secretary, Liverpool Local Medical Committee
Dr Paula Finnerty, North Locality Chair
Dr Monica Khuraijam, Matchworks Locality Chair
Dr Shamim Rose, Central Locality Chair
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1.3. Introduction to NHS Liverpool CCG
1.3.1 Introduction.
The Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group became operational as an NHS Body
on the 1st April 2013 and currently includes 92 GP Member Practices and is coterminus with the boundaries of Liverpool City Council. The CCG serves a growing
registered population of 521,052 and has a budget of £871.2M. The CCG remained
‘licenced without conditions’ from NHS England throughout 2016/17.
The accounts in this report have been prepared in accordance with the Department
of Health Group Manual for Accounts 2016/17 and associated guidance.
The CCG vision, values and strategic objectives are:
Our Vision
•

By 2020, health outcomes for the people within Liverpool will have improved
relative to the rest of England, and health inequalities within Liverpool will
have narrowed.

•

The quality of health care received by Liverpool patients will be consistent and
first class. They will be measured by patient feedback, provider assessment,
and external review processes.

•

Both will be achieved efficiently within the available resources.

Our Values
Patient Focused and Outcome Led
•

We will empower our patients to engage in improving their overall quality
of life, to interact in their care plans, and to ensure that no decisions will
be made without fully involving patients, both in the planning and monitoring
of services.
Partnership and Collaboration
•

We believe in working in unity, both within our organisation and externally
with our partners. We listen to, communicate with, and work effectively with
all our partners including membership practices, Trusts, the Local Authority,
and Commissioning Support Services.
Locally Focused
•

We will work through locality and neighbourhood groups to implement and
deliver services that meet the needs of our communities.
Progressiveness
•

We encourage innovation and continuous improvement in all services we
commission. We will target our resources in the most effective way to
ensure we offer value for money in the services we provide, and equity for
patients.
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Accountability
•

We accept responsibility for our actions. We make and support business
decisions through experience, evidence and good judgement, and we will
deliver against our promises.
Integrity and Respect
•

We will act with honesty and transparency in all our actions. We are committed
to a teamwork environment, where every member of the CCG is valued,
encouraged to contribute and recognised for their efforts.

Our Strategic Objectives
•

To improve health outcomes

•

To maximise value from our financial resources and focus on interventions
that will make a major difference

•

To build successful partnerships which promote system working and
integrated service delivery

•

To hold providers of commissioned services to account for the quality of
services delivered

•

To effectively engage patients and the public in decision making

•

To ensure continuous improvement in primary care services

The delivery of these strategic objectives has shaped and directed the
commissioning strategies and business of the organisation during 2016/17. As a
clinically led organisation it is the clinicians and other Governing Body members,
informed by and working with member practices and other partners who have then
determined the commissioning and investment strategies, transformational and
change programme activities during the year.
1.3.2 Details of Governing Body Members and Staffing
For the year 2016/17 the office of Chair of the CCG has been held by Dr Nadim
Fazlani and the Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) is Katherine Sheerin.
The membership of the Governing Body up to the signing of the Annual Report &
Accounts has been as follows:
Governing Body Members:
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Professor Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Tom Jackson
Dr Rosie Kaur

Chair
Lay Member Governance / Deputy Chair
GP / Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member Patient Engagement
GP
Practice Nurse
GP
GP
Chief Finance Officer
GP
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Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jane Lunt
Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Shamim Rose
Katherine Sheerin
Dr Maurice Smith
Co-opted Members (non-voting):
Sandra Davies
Cllr Paul Brant
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr Tristin Elkin
Dr Jamie Hampson
Dr Rob Barnett
Tina Atkins

GP
Head of Quality / Chief Nurse
Secondary Care Doctor
GP
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
GP

Director of Public Health, Liverpool City Council
Cabinet Member Health & Social Care,
Liverpool City Council Representative
GP North Locality
GP Central Locality (resigned 31/01/2017)
GP Matchworks Locality
Secretary, Liverpool LMC
Practice Manager

Page 66 provides details of the membership of CCG Committees.
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been
withheld from the Clinical Commissioning Group’s external auditors, and members of
the Governing Body take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant
information and to ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where
appropriate.
The Governing Body (voting / full members) in post at the 31/03/17 comprises of:
male 6 and female 10 members.
The CCG directly employs a total of 148 staff, comprising of 39 male and 109 female
(excluding office holders). This number excludes staff seconded from external
organisations, agency staff and contractors. This represents a small decrease of 5
directly employed staff when compared to the 153 in post for 2015/16. For 2016/17
the CCG employed a total of nine Very Senior Management (VSM) posts; five of
which were male (includes one Governing Body member) and four female (includes
two Governing Body members).
1.3.3 CCG Profile
The CCG comprises of 92 GP Member Practices that are organised into three
localities (North, Central and Matchworks (South)), beneath which there are twelve
neighbourhoods. Co-terminus with the boundaries of Liverpool City Council, the
CCG serves a growing registered population of 521,052 and has a budget of
£871.2M.
Population projections suggest the increase will continue in the medium term, with
the number of local residents increasing by a further 6,400 by 2022. By 2021, it is
estimated that the number of people aged over 65 in Liverpool will increase by just
over 9%, or 5,700 people. Projections also indicate there will be a large increase in
the number of children in the city by 2021, with the number aged under 15 increasing
by 6.8%, or an additional 5,000 people.
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Reflecting the diverse recent and past history of our maritime city, figures from the
2011 Census indicate that 15.2% of the Liverpool population are from a minority
ethnic group i.e. non-white British, equating to almost 71,000 residents. This is
slightly higher than the regional average (12.9%), but lower than England (20.2%).

The top 8 ethnic minority groups in Liverpool are:

The CCG operates from headquarters across two leased floors of The Department in
the centre of Liverpool at 2 Renshaw Street.
The CCG organisational structure can be illustrated as follows:
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The management of the CCG is structured and delivered around six ‘directorates’:

•

Finance, Contracts, Procurement
& Business Intelligence

•

Primary
Care
Improvement

•

Quality

&

Integrated Commissioning

•

Chief Nurse & Quality

•

Chief Operating Officer

•

Healthy Liverpool Programme

In 2016/17 the CCG contracted with the Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning
Support Unit for a limited number of commissioning support services which enabled
the CCG to deliver its objectives and day to day operations. These were generally
limited to: elements of Business Intelligence (including data processing); Continuing
Healthcare (CHC), Funded Nursing Care and individual complex packages of care;
Emergency Planning support; urgent care system reporting; Individual Funding
Requests (IFR); strategic engagement advice and support.
1.3.4 Commissioning Landscape
The CCG is responsible for commissioning the full spectrum of community, mental
health and secondary care services, along with emergency and patient transport
ambulance services, GP out of hours services and the NHS 111 service. The following
table highlights hospital, community and mental health providers whose contract
value in 2016/17 exceeded £0.5M in value.

Provider Type: Acute Hospitals
Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation
Hospitals NHS Trust *
Trust
Liverpool Women’s NHS Foundation Trust * Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation
Trust *
St Helens & Knowsley Teaching Hospitals Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital NHS
NHS Trust
Foundation Trust *
Southport & Ormskirk Hospitals NHS Trust
Wirral University Teaching Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust
Warrington & Halton Hospitals NHS Spire Hospital Liverpool, Spire Healthcare
Foundation Trust
Limited *
The Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust *
Provider Type: Mental Health
Mersey Care NHS Trust *
5 Boroughs Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust
Provider Type: Community Services
Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust *
Provider Type: Other
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust Urgent Care 24 Limited (GP out of hours
(ambulance services and NHS 111)
provider) *
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Note: * where Liverpool CCG acts as the co-ordinating commissioner.
The CCG also has delegated commissioning responsibility from NHS England for
primary care medical services for the 92 Practices in the city. Of the latter there are
56 Practices that have a contract with a value in excess of £0.5M.
The city’s health economy is very complex and full of unique challenges and
opportunities. Residents in Liverpool experience a wide range of poorer health
outcomes when compared to similar cities. Certain parts of the city suffer from
significant levels of variation in health inequalities; not only when compared to different
parts of the country but even when compared to different parts of the city itself.
Cancer has now replaced cardiovascular disease as the leading cause of death
in Liverpool and one in five people in the city have at least one long term condition.
The prevalence of chronic illnesses such as heart disease, respiratory disease
and cancer increases with age and increases at a faster rate among the most
deprived communities. These are major challenges for the CCG and for the
healthcare system going forward.
Further details of the city’s health can be found in the Annual Report of the Director
of Public Health, Liverpool City Council available at:
http://liverpool.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/adult-services-andhealth/public-health-annual-report-phar/
The Liverpool health economy infrastructure consists of a unique mix of eight
NHS/Foundation Trusts (four of which are ‘specialist’ Trusts), all sharing
interdependencies and relationships with neighbourhood health facilities, private acute
providers and numerous providers accredited under ‘any qualified provider’ (AQP).
Liverpool is fortunate to have a wealth of voluntary, community and social enterprise
(VCSE) partners and has a diverse market of nursing, residential home and
domiciliary care providers.
The CCG is co-terminus with Liverpool City Council, with whom we have maintained
a strong, positive and close working relationship with in 2016/17. This crucial strategic
partnership will enable us to ensure that all our health services across all settings
of care will be able to meet the future needs of the city and achieve our ambitions
for significant improvements in health outcomes for the people of Liverpool.
During the year the CCG has been an active member of the Liverpool Health &
Wellbeing Board. The work of the Board has informed this annual report, including
the Accountability Report and in particular the Corporate Governance Report. The
contributions made by the CCG including delivering the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy were considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 23rd March 2017
where they received formal endorsement from the Chair.
The Health and Wellbeing Board has been engaged in a wide cross section of health
and wellbeing activities and the following illustrates that breadth and some of the key
areas considered during 2016/17 meeting cycle:
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April 2016:
•

Better Care Fund

June 2016:
• Terms of Reference and Work
Programme
• Evaluation of the Liverpool
Rehabilitation, Education, Support
and Treatment Centre
• Learning disability transformation
July 2016:
• Children & Families Trust
Progress Report
• Student health and wellbeing
•

•

Joint Performance Report

•

Safeguarding Adults Annual report

•

Alcohol Strategy 2016 -21

•

•

Healthy Liverpool Programme
Progress Report
Multi agency domestic abuse
analysis
Joint Commissioning update

•
•

Children & Families Trust update
Public Health Annual Report

•

Cancer strategy update

•

Primary care access

September 2016:
• Welfare reform update
• Sustainability and
Transformational Plan (STP) North
Mersey update
• MFRS reports (Safe & well visits,
carbon monoxide awareness)
December 2016:
• Mental health triage car
• Liverpool Safeguarding Children
Annual Report

January 2017:
• Liverpool CCG Community Programme update
• DoH Community Pharmacy Review
• Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
• Liverpool Safeguarding Adults Annual Board Report
• Liverpool CCG Digital Programme update
• Liverpool’s membership of WHO’s Healthy Cities Network
March 2017:
• North Mersey Local Delivery System Progress Report
• Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy Assurance Report
• Collaborative Working: Knowsley, Liverpool and Sefton
• Active City Strategy
• Health & Wellbeing Board Summary Report 2016/17
• Forward Work Programme 2017/18.
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Liverpool CCG has played a key leadership role across the Cheshire & Merseyside
STP footprint during 2016/17, with the CCG Chief Officer acting as the senior
responsible officer (SRO) for the North Mersey Local Delivery System (LDS) and a
number of senior staff and clinicians leading North Mersey and Cheshire and
Merseyside workstreams. The CCG is also providing the interim project management
office (PMO) function and support to the North Mersey LDS through the Healthy
Liverpool Programme team and office.
1.4

Overview Summary

This performance report provides from the Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) a
perspective on the performance of the organisation over the reporting period
2016/17.
1.5 Purpose and activities of the organisation.
NHS Liverpool CCG is responsible for commissioning health services to meet the
needs of the increasing numbers of people registered with the city’s 92 general
medical practices. 2016/17 has been the fourth year of the CCG’s operation and
during the year the clinical leadership of the organisation has continued to develop
and be recognised along with other members of the Governing Body as the leaders
of the local health care system.
Over the last twelve months the infrastructure and staffing of the CCG has continued
to develop as the need for new roles and support has been identified, alongside
continued attention to the necessary governance arrangements and other processes
that underpin the commissioning of safe, effective and quality services that meet
local needs and allow the CCG to discharge its statutory role and duties.
During the year the CCG has met all of the required financial duties placed upon it
and ends the year in a balanced financial position.
Throughout the year the CCG has sought to work effectively with a wide variety of
partners including member GP Practices and commissioning partners including
neighbouring CCGs, NHS England and Liverpool City Council. This has been
achieved through continued membership and support of the North Mersey
Leadership Group, joint working with the NHS England Cheshire & Merseyside Sub
Regional Team and a further strengthening of our formal Partnership Agreement with
Liverpool City Council. Equal importance has been placed upon further developing
and sustaining Provider relationships with frequent engagement between clinicians,
Board / Governing Body Members alongside the more formal contract and quality
forums and meetings.
Performance on the whole through 2016/17 has been good, despite at times
challenging operational and financial conditions with a continued emphasis upon a
balance between operational delivery, ‘the here and now’ and our drive for
transformational change through the work of the Healthy Liverpool Programme.
A number of significant projects and milestones have been achieved during 2016/17
and the following summarises some of the key areas of Governing Body business
over the last twelve months:
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Key Governing Body Business 2016/17:
April 2016:
• 2016/17 Quality Premium
• Cheshire & Merseyside STP plan update
• CCG Financial position 2016/17
• Emergency Planning, Preparedness and Response Annual Report 2015/16
May 2016:
• Operational Plan 2016/17
• Corporate Risk Register
• Audit tender arrangements
• Anti-fraud bribery and corruption strategy
June 2016:
• Life expectancy and mortality trends
• Financial strategy 2016 – 21
• Review of homeopathy services
• LCH Capsticks Report
• Complaints, subject access requests, FOI requests and MP enquiries 2015/16
July 2016:
• Corporate Risk Register
August 2016:
• Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research & Care North West
Coast
• Alcohol strategy
• Strengthening financial performance & accountability in 2016/17
• CCG Social Media Policy
• Revised conflicts of interest statutory guidance
• Joint targeted inspection report
September 2016:
• Work plan for healthcare Public Health support to the CCG
• Pre-consultation engagement to support the Liverpool Women’s review of
women's and neonatal services
• Corporate Risk Register
• Emergency Planning, Preparedness and Response Assurance 2016/17
October 2016:
• Disinvestment policy (cessation and significant reduction in services)
• Hospital services digital investment proposal
• Risk management and assurance strategy 2016-18
• Conflicts of interest policy
November 2016:
• NHS Operational planning and contracting guidance 2017-19
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•
•
•
•
•
•

North Mersey Local Delivery System update
Quality impact analysis process
Acute primary care demand management
Corporate Risk Register
Information Governance policies
Complaints, subject access requests, FOI requests, MP enquiries

December 2016:
• Operational Plan update 2017-19
• Transforming care update
• Recruitment policy and procedure
January 2017:
• Operational Plan 2017-19
• Strategic financial planning update 2017/18 and 2018/19
• LCH transaction progress report
• HLP engagement update
• Corporate Risk Register
• Revisions to CCG Constitution
February 2017:
• Emergency Care Improvement Programme Whole System Enquiry Visit
• NHS Right Care Programme
• Review of orthopedic services
• Armed Forces Covenant
• Secondment policy
March 2017:
• Strategic Financial Planning 2017/18 & 2018/19
• Joint working across Liverpool, Southport & Formby and South Sefton CCGs
• Corporate Risk Register
• Safeguarding Children Board (SCB) and Safeguarding Adult Board (SAB)
Annual reports 2015/16
Note: in addition to the above, each month the Governing Body receives the following:
Committee meeting business updates; Chief Officer and Public Health updates;
Corporate Performance and Finance reports; minutes from Committee meetings; and
at the end of each meeting there is an open session for questions from the public
and staff who are welcome to attend the meetings all of which are held in public.
1.6 Key issues and risks
This section describes the resources, principal risks and uncertainties and
relationships that may affect the Clinical Commissioning Group’s long-term value.
The CCG’s financial position is positive overall and provides a good foundation on
which to go forward. However the organisation is not complacent and is sighted and
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mindful of the challenges and risks ahead, both known and potentially unknown.
Similarly the resources of the organisation go beyond the financial and extend in
particular to the clinical leadership of the CCG, the Governing Body, the involvement
and support of member practices, the organisation’s senior management team and
staff. Taken as a whole, they represent the ‘assets’ of the organisation and the
means by which the strategic and operational objectives will be achieved. Those
assets are supported, developed and in part protected by a commitment to clinical
engagement and involvement, good communications, organisational and personal
development and recognition that the organisation is a sum of all of its parts.
Good governance and risk management is an area that the CCG pays particular
attention to and the Governing Body regularly receives, discusses and assesses the
Corporate Risk Register/Assurance Framework as part of their approach and
commitment to practising strong and effective governance and discharging their
statutory duties.
The significant risks faced by the CCG can be grouped under a series of headings
and are managed through the overall risk management strategy and processes that
are embedded in the organisation and which are subject to both regular internal and
external audit scrutiny and review.
Strategic Risks –
•

Delivery of commissioned services across the city by providers that improve
and maximise health outcomes; deliver first class quality care; and which are
operationally and financially sustainable: Mitigation – the Healthy Liverpool
Programme outlines how the CCG will transform the shape and delivery of
services going forward and the health outcomes for local people.

•

Commissioning of primary care medical services under delegated authority
from NHS England. Mitigation – the CCG from the 1st April 2015 went ‘live’
with the scheme of delegation from NHS England to commission primary care
medical services. This continues to be overseen by the Primary Care
Commissioning Committee that is formally established by the Governing Body
and which meets in public.

•

Delivery of community health services – during 2016/17 it was reaffirmed that
community services provided by Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust must
transfer to an alternative provider(s) by 31/03/17, under a transactional
process led by NHS Improvement (NHSI). Mitigation – the CCG has fully
participated in the process led by NHSI to determine a ‘new’ provider for
community health core services. Separately the CCG has directly managed a
process for a smaller number of non-core services. At the end of March 2017
NHSI determined that they no longer wished to proceed with their preferred
provider following the transactional process and that alternative management
arrangements would be put in place to allow Liverpool Community Health
NHS Trust to continue for an interim period whilst an alternative solution was
determined. In the meantime the identified non-core services have transferred
or are in the process of transferring from LCH to alternative service providers
in the city, as directed by the CCG.
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Operational Risks –
•

Delivery by providers of services in compliance with NHS Constitution
Standards: Mitigation – effective quality surveillance processes are in place,
with Quality Summits held with providers as required and subsequent
recovery plans as appropriate put into place and which are then closely
monitored through the quality and contract management processes.

Financial Risks –
•

Local Economy Sustainability – the ability of providers to maintain high quality
and safe service provision within the available financial envelope continues to
be a significant challenge to the health and social care system: Mitigation –
the CCG continues to work closely with key stakeholders across the health
and social care economy. This partnership approach has enabled a two year
‘Acting as One’ fixed income contract across the North Mersey Local Delivery
System between respective commissioners and providers. This agreement
provides the platform for greater stability to all stakeholders and enables
transformation programmes such as the Healthy Liverpool Programme to be
implemented in a sustainable manner.

•

Savings Requirements – healthcare expenditure is anticipated to increase
year on year given the increasing demands for healthcare services, the impact
of an ageing population with multiple long term conditions and increasing
costs due to the availability of new drugs and technologies:
Mitigation – the CCG continues to develop and model future
financial planning assumptions in order to plan effectively the best possible
use of resources available from within its allocation. Plans for 2017-18 financial
year suggest a £25.5m savings requirement in order to meet NHS Business
Rules. A Cash Releasing and Efficiency Savings or CRES plan has been
agreed for the financial year that will be needed to be closely monitored in
order to deliver the required surplus.

•

Impact of Social Care / Public Health Budget Reductions - significant
reductions in local authority public health and social care budgets inevitably
have an adverse impact on health services: Mitigation – the CCG continues to
work closely with Liverpool City Council to identify opportunities for joint working
across the health and social care economy, and in particular use of the pooled
budget arrangements (such as the Better Care Fund) to commission
effective and efficient service provision. The ‘Improved’ Better Care Fund
established for 2017-18 and increases in social care funding announced in
early 2017 provides additional short term funding, but require longer term
solutions to be developed to secure sustainable health and social care services
for the city.
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1.7 Performance Summary
The CCG has maintained a consistent and robust focus on performance although
progress has been made against key targets such as cancer waiting times, dementia
diagnosis rates and mental health measures such as ‘Early Intervention in
Psychosis’ (EIP), 2016/17 has posed a number of difficult challenges in meeting
national and local key targets.
For the financial year 2016/17 the CCG, like many others areas across England, has
seen significant pressure upon delivery of the national A&E four hour operational
standard of 95% for patients being seen and discharged within 4 hours. At provider
level, delivery against the 4 hour A&E standard has continued to experience
unacceptable levels of variation (and failures) in performance throughout the
financial year; although this was generally reflective of many major A&E departments
across the country during 2016/17. The CCG has actively sought to work with all
stakeholders (including NHS England and Regulators) to understand the drivers
behind this disappointing performance and the North Mersey delivery system has
welcomed the intervention of the Emergency Care Improvement Programme (ECIP)
into the economy who carried out a ‘whole system enquiry’ visit at the end of 2016,
which has led onto an improvement programme and action plan. The latter is overseen
by the North Mersey AED Delivery Board, which is strongly supported by the CCG.
CCG performance against Mixed Sex Accommodation Breaches was also rated as
‘Red’ with a total of 10 breaches reported by Trusts up to the end of 2016 (the most
recently available data at the time of this report) against the national ‘zero tolerance’
of Mixed Sex Accommodation breaches. Although this is virtually comparable to the
total of 10 in 2015/16, it is against a national ‘zero tolerance’. The majority of
breaches (6) in 2016/17 occurred at Liverpool Heart & Chest Hospital and we have
continued to work closely with the Trust to improve internal processes which will
eliminate breaches in critical care accommodation whilst still ensuring that the best
interests of the patient and their immediate needs are met.
The incidence of health care acquired infections has also continued to be
challenging for the CCG in 2016/17. Incidents of MRSA carry a ‘zero tolerance’ and
up to the end of March 2017 a total of 11 cases had been reported relating to
Liverpool patients. Again, this represents a very similar position to 2015/16 where 10
cases had been reported (up to February 2016 and identical to the eventual yearend total of 11). Incidence of C.difficile (CDI) across the local health economy has
also increased; the CCG exceeded the ‘Annual Plan’ trajectory of 127 cases set for
the city with 151 reported cases up to the end of March 2017.
The CCG has continued its ‘multifactorial’ approach to all Health Care Acquired
Infections (HCAI) and builds on the close working relationships with providers to
identify themes and trends using the ‘Post Infection Review’ mechanism; an
extremely effective method for identifying and analysing infection control gaps and/or
lapses of care. A collaboration between partners across the health economy and the
CCG’s HCAI Programme Lead has also led to the development of a revised Root
Cause Analysis (RCA) tool which has been extremely effective in identifying and
disseminating lessons learned from CDI cases. Lessons learned are also fed into
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city ‘Primary Care Quality Groups’ to maximise the learning opportunities for general
practices.
During 2016/17 the CCG has also built on the development and implementation of
the ‘Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy’; working collaboratively with Liverpool
general practices, microbiologists and other key stakeholders to shape the local
health economy response to the challenges posed by the ever increasing resistant
strains of micro-organisms and bacteria. The Governing Body maintains oversight of
the delivery of these key work streams though regular monthly updates which highlight
CCG and individual provider performance against HCAI rates. This enables the
Governing Body to assess the level of assurance on actions completed (or
underway) to remedy poor performance and mitigate risks.
Performance against the mental health ‘Increased Access to Psychological Therapies
(IAPT)’ standard has again been disappointing in 2016/17. As at Quarter 3 2016/17
the CCG was achieving 2.36% against the 3.75% target for access and 32.8%
against the 50% standard for ‘recovery’ (% of people who finish treatment having
attended at least two treatments contacts). The CCG has, however welcomed the
support of the IAPT Intensive Support Team during the year which has helped
provide a thorough understanding of where the problems lie. The Intensive Support
Team (IST) ‘deep dive’ into the service has yielded real results with a reduction of
2,500 patients between October 2016 and February 2017. The focus is now moving
from access to sustainability.
Throughout the year the CCG has worked collaboratively with public health
colleagues in the city council to better understand the overall health status of the
city’s population; culminating in the development of the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA), Health & Wellbeing Strategy and joint commissioning priorities.
1.8 Performance Analysis
As already outlined the CCG Governing Body receives a comprehensive monthly
performance report, which is supplemented on a quarterly basis with a profile of
progress against key outcomes measures and benchmarking of Liverpool’s
performance against other ‘Core Cities’. The performance report has continued to
develop and evolve though the year, informed by changes in national and local
reporting and the needs expressed by Governing Body members themselves. As
well as reporting and presenting activity and performance information the reports
have evolved to include as required an expanded commentary where performance in
a particular area has fallen below a planned trajectory or otherwise deviated from
plan. This ‘intelligent’ reporting beyond mere data makes an important contribution to
the learning and appreciation of performance by the Governing Body members and
contributes to strengthening their critical assurance role.
Governing Body papers including this regular performance report are published on
the CCG website and can be found at:
http://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body-meetings/2016/ for 2016.
http://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/about-us/governing-body-meetings/2017/ for 2017
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A copy of the latest available set of CCG level performance indicators can be found
below. This report shows performance up to the end of March 2017 as final year end
data was unfortunately not fully available in time to meet the audit and publication
deadlines for this annual report and accounts (the most recent performance data and
reports can however be found on the CCG website, address as above).
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Liverpool CCG - Performance Dashboard 2016-17
2016-17

Metric

Q1
Apr

May

Q2
Jun

Jul

Aug

Q3
Sep

Oct

Nov

YTD

Q4
Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Preventing People from Dying Prematurely
Cancer Waiting Times
191: % Patients seen within two weeks for an urgent GP referral for suspected cancer
The percentage of patients first seen by a specialist within two weeks when urgently referred by their
GP or dentist with suspected cancer
17: % of patients seen within 2 weeks for an urgent referral for breast symptoms
Two week wait standard for patients referred with 'breast symptoms' not currently covered by two
week waits for suspected breast cancer
535: % of patients receiving definitive treatment within 1 month of a cancer diagnosis
The percentage of patients receiving their first definitive treatment within one month (31 days) of a
decision to treat (as a proxy for diagnosis) for cancer
26: % of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days -Surgery
31-Day Standard for Subsequent Cancer Treatments where the treatment function is (Surgery)
1170: % of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days -Drug Treatments
31-Day Standard for Subsequent Cancer Treatments (Drug Treatments)
25: % of patients receiving subsequent treatment for cancer within 31 days -Radiotherapy
Treatments
31-Day Standard for Subsequent Cancer Treatments where the treatment function is (Radiotherapy)
539: % of patients receiving 1st definitive treatment for cancer within 2 months -62 days
The % of patients receiving their first definitive treatment for cancer within two months (62 days) of
GP or dentist urgent referral for suspected cancer
540: % of patients receiving treatment for cancer within 62 days from an NHS Cancer Screening
Service
Percentage of patients receiving first definitive treatment following referral from an NHS Cancer
Screening Service within 62 days.
541: % of patients receiving treatment for cancer within 62 days upgrade their priority
% of patients treated for cancer who were not originally referred via an urgent GP/GDP referral for
suspected cancer, but have been seen by a clinician who suspects cancer, who has upgraded their
priority.

RAG

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

Actua l

95.252%

95.725%

94.31%

95.19%

94.89%

97.31%

96.06%

97.59%

97.50%

95.74%

95.9%

Ta rget

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

RAG

G

G

G

G

R

R

G

G

G

G

G

Actua l

94.286%

94.444%

93.40%

97.04%

92.78%

92.18%

95.56%

96.33%

96.06%

98.18%

95.0%

Ta rget

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

93.00%

RAG

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

Actua l

97.549%

98.837%

98.84%

97.57%

98.85%

99.09%

97.62%

98.96%

98.90%

97.41%

98.349%

Ta rget

96.00%

96.00%

96.00%

96.00%

96.00%

96.00%

96.00%

96.00%

96.00%

96.00%

RAG

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

Actua l

96.296%

100.00%

100.00%

100%

96%

100%

100%

100%

95.65%

100%

98.87%

Ta rget

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

RAG

G

G

R

G

G

R

G

G

G

R

G

Actua l

100.00%

100.00%

97.56%

100%

100%

93.59%

98.65%

100%

100%

97.06%

95.62%

Ta rget

98.00%

98.00%

98.00%

98.00%

98.00%

98.00%

98.00%

98.00%

98.00%

98.00%

RAG

G

G

R

G

G

G

G

G

G

R

G

Actua l

96.552%

96.364%

91.30%

100%

95.30%

97.40%

95.52%

98.98%

100%

91.84%

96.80%

Ta rget

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

94.00%

RAG

R

R

G

R

G

G

G

G

G

R

G

Actua l

82.979%

83.133%

86.36%

84.06%

88.16%

87.21%

89.47%

88.63%

88%

83.53%

86.17%

Ta rget

85.00%

85.00%

85.00%

85.00%

85.00%

85.00%

85.00%

85.00%

85.00%

85.00%

RAG

G

G

R

G

G

G

R

G

G

G

G

Actua l

95.455%

100.00%

80.00%

100%

100%

90.91%

88.89%

90.91%

100%

92.86%

94.53%

Ta rget

90.00%

90.00%

90.00%

90.00%

90.00%

90.00%

90.00%

90.00%

90.00%

90.00%

93.00%

93.00%

96.00%

94.00%

98.00%

94.00%

85.00%

90.00%

93.00%

93.00%

96.00%

94.00%

98.00%

94.00%

85.00%

90.00%

93.00%

93.00%

96.00%

94.00%

98.00%

94.00%

85.00%

90.00%

RAG

G

G

R

G

R

G

G

G

G

G

G

Actua l

100.00%

100.00%

80.00%

88.89%

83.30%

100%

100%

87.50%

87.50%

86.96%

91.057%

Ta rget

85%

85%

85%

85%

85%

85%

85%

85%

85%

85%
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85%

85%

85%

1516 and 1617
Trend

2016-17

Metric

Q1
Apr

May

Q2
Jun

Jul

Aug

Q3
Sep

Oct

Nov

YTD

Q4
Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Ambulance
1887: Category A Calls Response Time (Red1)
Number of Category A (Red 1) calls resulting in an emergency response arriving at the scene of the
incident within 8 minutes
1889: Category A (Red 2) 8 Minute Response Time
Number of Category A (Red 2) calls resulting in an emergency response arriving at the scene of the
incident within 8 minutes
546: Category A calls responded to within 19 minutes
Category A calls responded to within 19 minutes

RAG

G

G

G

G

G

R

R

R

R

R

G

Actua l

85.92%

87.00%

79.60%

82.02%

80.40%

72.68%

67.83%

69.23%

67.21%

70.63%

75.737%

Ta rge t

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

RAG

G

G

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

Actua l

75.38%

77.20%

73.40%

67.61%

73.02%

66.50%

68.13%

66.70%

63.53%

67.87%

69.752%

Ta rge t

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

RAG

R

G

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

Actua l

94.94%

95.10%

92.80%

91.06%

94.71%

92.62%

91.59%

89.89%

87.92%

90.06%

91.957%

Ta rge t

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

75.00%

75.00%

95.00%

75.00%

75.00%

95.00%

75.00%

75.00%

95.00%

Enhancing Quality of Life for People with Long Term Conditions
days
Mental
Health
The
proportion
of those patients on Care Programme Approach discharged from inpatient care who
are followed
up within
7 days
138:
Proportion
of patients
on (CPA) discharged from inpatient care who are followed up within 7

Actua l

98.113%

96.36%

94.62%

TaRAG
rge t

95.00%
G

95.00%
G

95.00%
R

95.00%

95.00%
G

Actua
RAG l
Ta rge t

2.90%
R
3.75%

2.70%
R
3.75%

2.36%
R
3.75%

3.75%

15.00%

RAG

R

R

R

Actua l

34.8%

34.2%

32.8%

Ta rge t

50.0%

50.0%

50.0%

50.00%

96.44%

IAPT
E.A.3: % of people who receive psychological therapies - Access
E.A.S.2: % of people who finish treatment having attended at least two treatment contacts and are
moving to recovery - Recovery
E.H.1 - A1: % of patients who received their first treatment appointment within 6 weeks of referral

E.H.1 - A2: % of patients who received their first treatment appointment within 18 weeks of referral

Helping People to Recover from Episodes of Ill Health or Following Injury
Dementia Diagnosis
Estimated diagnosis rates

50.0%

RAG

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

Actua l

76.15%

81.20%

81.50%

87.20%

90%

91.94%

90.76%

92.98%

93.22%

87.21%

Ta rge t

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

RAG

R

R

R

R

A

G

G

G

G

R

Actua l

87.16%

90.00%

89.90%

93.10%

94.6%

96.77%

96.64%

98.25%

97.46%

93.79%

Ta rge t

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

Actua l

73.8%

74.5%

75.0%

75.7%

76.10%

76.50%

76.50%

76.36%

75.95%

74.90%

75.30%

TaRAG
rge t

70%
G

70%
G

70%
G

70%
G

70%
G

70%
G

70%
G

70%
G

70%
G

70%
G

70%
G

70%

70%
G

Actua
RAG l
Ta rge t

55.50%
G
50%

55.50%
G
50%

41.60%
R
50%

57.15%
G
50%

62.50%
G
50%

61.50%
G
50%

57.14%
G
50%

75%
G
50%

61.54%
G
50%

87.5%
G
50%

71.43%
G
50%

50%

61.417%
G
50%

75.00%

75.00%

75.00%

95.00%

75.00%

95.00%

75.3%

Early Intervention in Psychosis
psychosis (FEP) or an “at risk mental state” that wait two weeks or less to start a NICE-recommended
early intervention in Psychosis waiting times: The proportion of people experiencing first episode
package of care.
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1516 and 1617
Trend

2016-17
Q1

Metric

Q2

Q3

YTD

Q4

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Ensuring that People Have a Positive Experience of Care
EMSA
1067: Mixed sex accommodation breaches - All Providers
No. of MSA breaches for the reporting month in question for all providers
1812: Mixed Sex Accommodation - MSA Breach Rate
MSA Breach Rate (MSA Breaches per 1,000 FCE's)

RAG

R

R

G

G

R

G

R

R

G

R

R

R

Actua l

2

2

0

0

2

0

1

1

0

1

1

10

Ta rge t

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

RAG

R

R

G

G

R

G

R

R

G

R

R

Actua l

0.15

0.14

-

-

0.15

-

0.08

0.08

0

0.07

0.1

Ta rge t

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0

0
R
0.65

0.00

0.00

Referral to Treatment (RTT) & Diagnostics
1291: Referral to Treatment RTT (Incomplete)
Percentage of patients waiting at period end (RTT) for incomplete pathways (Commissioner)
2004: Referral to Treatment RTT - No of Incomplete Pathways Waiting >52 weeks
The number of patients waiting at period end for incomplete pathways >52 weeks
1828: % of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test
The % of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test

RAG

G

G

A

A

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

Actua l

92.9%

92.6%

92.0%

92%

91.70%

91.28%

91.19%

91.60%

90.91%

91.30%

90.79%

91.68%

Ta rge t

92.00%

92.00%

92.00%

92.00%

92.00%

92.00%

92.00%

92.00%

92.00%

92.00%

92.00%

G

R

G

G

R

R

G

R

G

G

G

Actua l

0

1

0

0

1

1

0

1

0

0

0

Ta rge t

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

RAG

G

G

G

G

G

R

G

G

R

R

G
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0.476%

0.509%

0.464%

0.53%

0.99%

1.04%

0.41%

0.82%

3.02%

2.67%

0.75%

Ta rge t

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

92.00%

92.00%
R
4

0

0
R
1.066%

1.00%

1.00%

Treating and Caring for People in a Safe Environment and Protect them from Avoidable Harm
HCAI
497: Number of MRSA Bacteraemias
Incidence of MRSA bacteraemia (Commissioner)
24: Number of C.Difficile infections
Incidence of Clostridium Difficile (Commissioner)

RAG

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

YTD

2

2

2

3

5

5

5

6

8

10

11

11

Ta rge t

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

RAG

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

YTD

18

33

49

67

79

93

107

120

131

142

151

Ta rge t

11

22

34

46

58

70

82

94

105

116

127

0

0
R
151

138

82

Accident & Emergency
431: 4-Hour A&E Waiting Time Target (Monthly Aggregate for Total Provider)
% of patients who spent less than four hours in A&E (Total Acute position from Unify Weekly SitReps)

RAG

R

R

G

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

Actua l

90.87%

91.31%

92.10%

91.93%

91.18%

90.37%

90.10%

88.53%

87.08%

87.75%

91.124%

Ta rge t

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

95.00%
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95.00%

95.00%

95.00%

1516 and 1617
Trend

1.9 Performance Measures.
The performance of the CCG is informed and influenced by a variety of relationships
and key partnerships. Chief amongst these are the following:
•

Member Practices: the CCG has in place a locality structure with three localities
(North, Central and Matchworks) that provide via their locality Chairs and Lead
GPs direct input into the Governing Body, supported by regular locality
meetings. The localities themselves are currently underpinned by twelve
neighbourhoods that provide a direct link into member practices. At least
twice a year all member practices are brought together for city wide
development and engagement events, with local events happening
throughout the year at a locality or neighbourhood level.

•

Other Commissioners: the CCG is an active participant in and supporter of the
Merseyside CCGs Strategic Forum that provides a valuable forum for Chief
Officers, Chairs and Chief Finance Officers to meet monthly and discuss
matters of common interest and concern, recommending actions or
interventions to Governing Bodies. Specific collaborative commissioning
arrangements are in place for key Trusts and services which deliver services
across multiple CCG boundaries and populations. Examples of the latter
include the Collaborative Commissioning Forum around Aintree University
Hospital and the wider North West arrangements effecting the commissioning
of ambulance services and NHS 111. The CCG has continued with a strong
relationship with the NHS England Cheshire & Merseyside Sub Regional
Team, including specialist services commissioners. The latter in particular is
an important relationship for the CCG as the investment in specialist services
and Trusts in the city is significant and a close working relationship and
understanding between the commissioners is essential.

•

Local residents and patients: city wide engagement events provide the
opportunity for strategic input and engagement. Individual clinical programmes
benefit from patient and public involvement in the service design and
procurement of new or changed services. Liverpool Healthwatch is also invited
to attend and participate in formal meetings of the Governing Body. Individual
member practice Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) are also encouraged and
supported, with the majority of practices in the city having PPGs established
and operational, which link into patient forums at a locality level.

•

Local Authority: effective relations with Liverpool City Council are critical to the
delivery of health services and health improvements across the city. At the
strategic level the Governing Body welcomes Cllr Paul Brant Cabinet Member
for Health & Social Care and the Director of Public Health to meetings of the
Governing Body, with the Director of Adult Social Care also in attendance.
The CCG also continues to fully support the work of the Mayoral Health
Commission and participate in the Health & Wellbeing Board and associated
Joint Commissioning Group. The latter brings together CCG and local
authority colleagues to deliver the work of the Health & Wellbeing Board. The
importance of this relationship is evidenced by the commitment of the CCG to
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the ‘Better Care Fund’ and continuance of our formal Partnership Agreement
(Section 75) between the Council and CCG and the further development of
our joint approach to personalised health budgets.
During the year the CCG has consistently attended meetings of the City
Council Social Care and Health Select Committee and provided the
Committee with updates and progress reports on key actions and activities,
including the Healthy Liverpool Programme. The Select Committee during the
year has received and considered reports on a wide variety of areas including
residential and nursing home fees, the Care Act implementation, military
veterans support, winter resilience, children and adult safeguarding,
neighbourhood and locality working.
Service Providers: the development of relationships with providers across the
city is led by the clinical programme and locality leads from the Governing
Body that are ‘attached’ to specific Trusts. This emphasis upon direct
engagement by clinical leaders has set the CCG apart from previous
approaches and led to the development of a more direct, open and
transparent relationship. Regular quality and contracting meetings with
providers are supplemented by more strategic meetings between members of
the Governing Body and individual Trust Executive teams.
North Mersey Local Delivery System (LDS): the CCG has played a key
leadership role in bringing together the North Mersey system as part of the
Cheshire & Merseyside STP. The CCG Chief Officer is the SRO for the North
Mersey LDS programme, co-ordinating fortnightly meetings of the leadership
group (all provider CEOs, Local Authorities and commissioners) who are
responsible for delivery of the LDS plan. The plan aims to achieve both
clinically and financially sustainable services across North Mersey. As we
work together with NHS Southport and Formby CCG and NHS South Sefton
CCG through the North Mersey Local Delivery System discussions are
ongoing regarding bringing together our transformational programmes, Shaping
Sefton and Healthy Liverpool, in order to strengthen local commissioning. In
the future, this may mean organisational reconfiguration and as at the 31st
March 2017 discussions are ongoing between the three
organisations.
1.10 Financial Performance.
2016/17 Financial Performance
The CCG has posted an in-year surplus for 2016-17 of £1.953M, resulting in a
cumulative surplus of £16.38M as at 31st March 2017 (compared to 2015-16 of
£14.427M)
Liverpool CCG has achieved all of its statutory financial duties as laid out in the table
below
Duty
Achieved

2016-17- Statutory Duties
Expenditure
Ensure its expenditure does not exceed the aggregate of its allocations
for the financial year
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Use of Resources
Ensure its use of resources (both its capital resource use and revenue
resource use) does not exceed the amount specified by NHS England
for the financial year
Additional Controls on Resource Usage
Take account of any directions issued by the NHS England, in respect
of specified types of resource use in a financial year, to ensure the
CCG does not exceed an amount specified by NHSE
Surplus
Ensure that the CCG retains planned and agreed surplus during the
year





Summary Financial Position
Area of
Expenditure

2016/17

2015/16

Allocation

Expenditure

Surplus /
(Deficit)

Allocation

Expenditure

Surplus /
(Deficit)

£ 000’s

£ 000’s

£000’s

£ 000’s

£ 000’s

£000’s

Programme

860,616

844,996

15,620

843,934

829,888

14,046

Running
Costs

10,617

9,857

760

10,961

10,580

381

871,233

854,853

16,380

854,895

840,468

14,427

The financial statements supporting this position are detailed from page 96.
The CCG has experienced a challenging financial year with increased expenditure
across a range of healthcare contracts and responsibilities. In response to this the
CCG Management team initiated a range of activities to reduce expenditure within
the financial year, resulting in submission of a financial recovery plan in December
2016 to support deliver of NHS England Business Planning Rules within the financial
year.
A Financial Recovery Oversight & Recovery Group has continued to meet weekly
since the Autumn of 2016 including several members of the CCG’s governing body
to provide oversight and assurance with regards to reviewing progress against the
savings required plan and also to support the development of robust plans for future
financial years given the challenging position facing Liverpool’s Health and Social
Care economy.
The CCG is currently reviewing its approach with regards to capacity and use of
appropriate documentation when considering monitoring of future cash releasing
requirements savings to deliver future NHS England business rules.
Financial Analysis
The below analysis provide further information regarding the CCG expenditure
analysis for the respective financial years.
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Year on Year Changes
Area of Expenditure

2016-17

2015-16

Acute Provision
Community Services
Delegated Primary Care
Prescribing Costs
Mental Health Services
Continuing Healthcare
Other Programme *
Running Costs
TOTAL

£000’s
427,179
92,632
91,240
88,561
82,565
31,230
31,589
9,857
854,853

£000’s
421,300
90,598
88,423
91,284
80,024
31,688
26,571
10,580
840,468

Year on
Year
Change
%
0.8%
4.9%
4.1%
-5.5%
5.0%
-0.3%
21.6%
-17.8%

* Other Programme Includes - Better Care Fund Contributions, Property Services and other Programme expenditure

Allocation of Expenditure
The pie chart below shows the relative percentage of 2016-17 expenditure
(£854.85m) against the reporting categories.

1%
3%

4%

Acute Provision
Community Services

10%

Delegated Primary Care
50%

10%

Prescribing Costs
Mental Health Services
Continuing Healthcare

11%

Other Programme
Running Costs

11%

Provider Information
The table below provides information with regards to CCG’s contract expenditure in
excess of £20M for the 2016-17 financial year. These 7 contracts account for
£526.4M of or 59% of overall CCG expenditure
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Name of Provider

£ 000's

The Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust

203,050

Aintree University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

78,921

Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust

69,058

Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust

64,831

Liverpool Women’s NHS Foundation Trust

40,014

Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust

30,317

North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust

20,984

St Helens & Knowsley Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

20,227

Future Financial Challenges
Delivery of NHS England Business Rules in 2017-18 financial year will require the
CCG to make further savings against anticipated expenditure. Planning assumptions
currently assume that savings in the region of £25.5M (circa 2.9% of overall
resources available) are required to do so with further challenges should further risks
materialise compared to forecast expenditure.
Despite the required level of financial savings required, the CCG remains in a relatively
strong position due to mitigation of significant volume based risk through its ‘Acting as
One’ contract agreement, and subject to no material movement from its planning
assumptions remains confident of delivery of NHS England Business planning rules.
In order to enhance likelihood of delivery and building upon the lessons learnt from
the Financial Recovery Plan that was initiated in 2016-17 financial year, the CCG is
developing a cash releasing efficiency savings monitoring system in order to ensure
a detailed review of savings is performed on a monthly basis to highlight and
appropriately manage the financial position within 2017-18 financial year.

1.11 CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF) 2016/17
For 2016/17 NHSE has introduced a new Improvement & Assessment Framework
(IAF) that replaces the previous CCG assurance framework and separate CCG
performance dashboard. The new process has four domains and six clinical
priorities, illustrated in the following diagram:
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An independent panel scrutinises the clinical areas and their results can be found
at www.nhs.uk, under the heading ‘services’ and then by selecting ‘ccg’.
Liverpool CCG has continued to develop and evolve a ‘Whole System Outcome’
report which measures performance against CCG IAF indicators and the six clinical
priority areas, in addition to progress against NHS Outcomes Framework, Adult
Social Care Framework, Public Health Outcome Framework and other local
indicators.
NHSE has a statutory duty to conduct an annual performance assessment of each
CCG and it is expected that this will be concluded and available on
www.nhs.uk/service-search/Performance/Search from July 2017. The table
presented in 1.8 provides a summary of CCG performance against NHS Constitutional
indicators up to and including March 2017 (where data was available at the time of
completing this report). A summary of ‘headline’ performance against ‘Better Health’
and ‘Better Care’ indicators for the latest available data period (Quarters 2 and 3
2016/17) is provided below:
1.11.1 Better Health Indicators
Better Health indicators demonstrate how the CCG is contributing towards improving
the health and wellbeing of its population and ‘bending’ the demand curve. Headline
performance in this domain for 2016/17 includes the following areas:
•

General Long Term Conditions: For the period July 2015 to March 2016
Liverpool CCG saw a 0.5% increase in relation to the proportion of people
who are feeling supported to manage their conditions, with performance of
66.3% against this measure above the national average of 64.3%. Liverpool
CCG also performed above the national average of 39.84% for NICE
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recommended diabetes treatment targets, achieving 44.5% against this IAF
indicator and key clinical priority area (based on latest national data for
2015/16). The CCG has commissioned Liverpool Diabetes Partnership (LDP)
to maintain a presence in each GP practice to support the 2017/18 NDA
submissions.
•

Child Obesity: This indicator is aimed at reducing the percentage of children
aged 10-11 who are classified as overweight or obese (and likely to be
overweight/obese as adults with consequential health related problems). The
latest published data (2015/16) shows Liverpool CCG performance at 39.8%,
which is above the national average of 34.2% and above the ‘peer’ average of
37.3%. During 2016/17 revisions have been made to the Children and
Families Weight Management specification (as part of the ongoing service
quality improvement process). Liverpool CCG is also working with all partners
across the city to maximise the promotion of healthy eating and encouraging
increased levels of physical activity.

•

Smoking: Smoking prevalence for Liverpool continues to be above the
national average of 16.9% and has shown little improvement on 23.1% (the
latest period of prevalence measurement is 2015). The community ‘stop
smoking service’ (commissioned by Liverpool City Council) has set 3,418 quit
dates in the nine months since its inception.
Smoking among pregnant women (maternal smoking at time of delivery) has
also continued to be challenging for Liverpool. Quarter 3 data (2016/17) shows
a prevalence measure of 13.7%. Although this is above the 11% target and
national average of 10.4%, prevalence is reducing. Liverpool CCG, Liverpool
City Council and Liverpool Women’s Hospital are working in partnership to
improve referrals from midwifery to the Stop Smoking in Pregnancy
Programme (which also offers stress and debt management advice).

•

Antimicrobial resistance: Liverpool CCG is on track to achieve both annual
targets of appropriate prescribing antibiotics in primary care and the
prescribing of broad spectrum antibiotics in primary care. Based on the latest
available data (December 2016) Liverpool is ranked as 5th out of 11 similar
CCGs for both indicators. During 2016/17 High antibiotic prescribing practices
have been approached individually and back-up prescribing has been
recommended as part of their individualised strategy for reducing
antimicrobial prescribing.
In 2015 Liverpool CCG established a working group to look at back-up
prescribing, reporting in to the Public Health England Anitmicrobial Resistance
(AMR) Strategy Group. The move to electronic prescribing was regarded as a
barrier to successful implementation and general practices were therefore
asked to revert to manual (paper) antibiotic prescribing to facilitate back-up
prescribing where necessary. This now forms an integral part of the CCG’s
AMR strategy going forward and complies with NICE guidance published in
April 2016.
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1.11.2 Better Care Indicators
Better Care indicators measure areas such as care redesign, performance of
constitutional standards and health outcomes. Headline areas of performance in this
domain is summarised below (please note that performance against NHS
constitutional measures is detailed in 3.1.3):
•

Urgent & Emergency Care: Analysis of the latest national data Liverpool
CCG also saw an improvement in the rate of unplanned hospital admissions
for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions with 1,187 admissions per
100,000 population (although this was above the national rate of 816 per
100,000). This CCG IAF metric is used as a proxy measure to determine how
well the CCG is managing patients out of hospital (e.g. in primary care) to
prevent ‘avoidable’ admissions.
Similarly, admission rates for urgent care sensitive conditions (which include
COPD, falls in the over 75s, DVT and acute mental health crisis) have reduced
from 3,778 per 100,000 in the period April to March 2014/15 to 3,462 per
100,000 in April 2015 to March 2016. Although this represents an
improvement, it is still above the national average of 2,359 per 100,000
population and above the CCG’s ‘peer average’ (i.e. those CCGs/cities
identified as being most similar to Liverpool) of 3,092 per 100,000.
All twelve ‘neighbourhoods’ across the city now have a Community Care
Team (CCT) in place to review patients with a high likelihood of hospital
admission and offer a home visit and personalised care plan, with MultiDisciplinary Teams (MDT) also proactively risk assessing patients with the
aim of preventing avoidable admissions.

•

Learning Disabilities: Liverpool CCG has seen an improvement in the
percentage of people in the city with a learning disability who have received
an annual health check, although this is still below the national average of
37.5% and ranks the city as 8th out of 11 similar cities/CCGs. Work is, however,
already underway to improve the rate of annual health checks (both in terms
of quality and quantity), with the CCG running a quarterly learning disability
audit from the GP practice systems and primary healthcare facilitators
targeting those general practices in the city where completion of health
checks is below expected levels. The North Mersey Transforming Care Hub
has adopted physical health and health inequalities as a key work stream and
Liverpool CCG has developed a ‘primary care service development plan’ for
people with learning disabilities. The development plan seeks to address
health check coverage and the quality and consistency of health checks in
addition to mainstream health care. Excellent links are maintained with
general practices across the city, evidenced by 90 of the 92 practices in
Liverpool signing up the Direct Enhanced Scheme (DES).

•

Cancer: One-year net cancer survival rates of all cancers in ages 15-99 years
continue to improve with latest national data for Liverpool identical to the
England rate of 70.4% (year Dec 2014 – Dec 2015, with the year of diagnosis
being calendar year 2014). For breast, colorectal and lung combined
Liverpool has a higher one-year survival rate than the England average
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(72.3% compared with 71.5% in 2014). CCG performance against key NHS
Constitution measures for cancer waiting times has also seen a marked
improvement in 2016/17, with eight out of the nine national standards
achieved.
Performance against cancer screening coverage has continued to be
challenging for Liverpool in 2016/17. Bowel cancer screening uptake in the
city for 2015/16 (the latest published data) was at 50.8% and below the
national target of 60%. This is, however an improvement on 2014/15 and
screening rates are slowly increasing with a number of projects and initiatives
introduced in 2016/17 to further improve awareness and uptake. A media
campaign and associated toolkit was launched in January 2017 aimed at ‘first
time’ responders whilst a project aiming to increase bowel cancer screening
uptake in black and ethnic minority communities (in Kensington, Picton and
Riverside) has also been initiated.
Our partners have also been instrumental in the ongoing engagement with the
public and raising awareness of the importance of screening. There has been
strong support from Liverpool City Councillors in their championing of cancer
screening programmes, whilst Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service have
incorporated a brief intervention imitative into their ‘safe and well’ visits. CCG
performance against breast cancer screening and cervical screening is also
below national average rates with Liverpool ranking 9th and 11th respectively
out of 11 similar CCGs (using latest data available i.e. 2015/16). The CCG
continues to work collaboratively with public health colleagues to support
general practices in improving cervical screening uptake across the city, whilst
a review of breast screening services is being led by NHS England.
•

Mental Health: Liverpool CCG has undoubtedly faced a testing year in relation
to performance against the majority of Improved Access to Psychological
Therapies (IAPT) measures. IAPT services provide evidence based
treatments for people with anxiety and depression, which are monitored
using various data sets which measure access to those services and
‘recovery’ rates (a measure of patient outcome which reflects a positive
change in their condition following completion of treatment). As at Quarter 3
(2016/17) Liverpool CCG achieved a national reported performance of
33.43% for the percentage of referrals to IAPT which indicated a reliable
recovery following completion of treatment. This was below against the
national target of 50% and the national average of 48.8%. During 2016/17
there has been an intrinsic relationship between the long waits experienced
by patients for ‘second’ treatments and recovery performance. Liverpool
CCG, the IAPT service provider and the IAPT Intensive Support Team have
worked in close partnership throughout the financial year to significantly reduce
waiting lists and improve access (the results of which are now beginning to
show some real positive progress). Monitoring of new referrals into the IAPT
service (i.e. those patients who are not experiencing significant waits for
second treatments) indicates a recovery rate of 40% or above.
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1.12 Friends & Families Test
Friends & Families Test update 2016/17
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a single question survey which asks patients
whether they would recommend the NHS service they have received to friends and
family who need similar treatment or care. It was initially rolled out for providers of
NHS funded acute services for inpatients (including independent sector
organisations that provide acute NHS services) and patients discharged from A&E
(type 1 & 2) from April 2013. Since it was initially launched in April 2013, the FFT has
been rolled out in phases to most NHS funded services in England, giving patients
the opportunity to leave feedback on their care and treatment. In previous years,
NHS England proposed that all providers should achieve a 15% response rate for
A&E and Inpatient FFT surveys. In 2015/16 the target was dropped as a mandated
standard and as such is likely to be the reason why in Liverpool and across the
country there has been a notable reduction in response rates during 2016/17,
particularly in A&E. Despite this, during 2016/17 the average response rates across
Liverpool are within the England average range.
Friends and Family Test results for 2016/17 across the city can are summarised
below (data relates to the most recent national publication – January 2017 data for
Friends and Family Test and Quarter 2 2016/17 for Staff Friends & Family Test):
Accident & Emergency: Across Liverpool, during January 2017, the percentage of
patients who would recommend A&E services as a place to receive care has reduced
on the same period in 2015/16 (from 84% in Jan 16 to 80% in Jan 17). There
has also been an increase in the percentage of respondents who would not
recommend the A&E service from 9% in January 2016 to 12% to January 2017. It is
likely that this reduction is reflective of the challenging performance seen in A&E
departments during 2016/17. The percentage of patients who would recommend
A&E services at Liverpool providers is also below the England average of 86.6% in
January 2017.
Inpatients: On average 95% of respondents would recommend a Liverpool provider
as a place to receive inpatient care, which is the same rate as reported in January
2016. This is also in line with the England average rate of 95.6%. The percentage of
respondents who would not recommend inpatient services across Liverpool is also
within the England average range of 2%.
Outpatients: On average in January 2017 (across all providers) Liverpool reports
that 93.4% of respondents would recommend outpatient services, which is the same
as the England average. This is also in line with the rate reported in January 2016.
The proportion of respondents stating they would not recommend outpatient services
is also within the England average range (2.8%).
Maternity: Due to extremely low number of responses it’s not possible to produce
meaningful analysis on the data relating to the four maternity questions in 2016/17.
Community: For community services the Liverpool service provider has
demonstrated a consistent rate of patient satisfaction with a recommendation rate of
97.3% in January 2017 compared with 97.49% January 2016. The provider has been
consistently above the England average throughout 2016/17.
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1.13 Outcomes Framework & Local Indicators
As described in 1.7 and 1.8 (Performance Analysis) The CCG has continued to
develop performance reporting throughout 2016/17 in order to monitor and measure
service from our local hospitals, community services and mental health trusts against
a number of national outcomes indicators in key areas such as A&E, Referral to
Treatment, cancer services and the new mental health access standards; ensuring
patients’ rights within the NHS Constitution are maintained. The table presented in
1.8 provides a summary of CCG performance against NHS Constitutional indicators
up to and including March 2017 (where data was available at the time of completing
this report).
1.14 Sustainable development
NHS Liverpool CCG has continued to build on the achievements of previous years
and continues to deliver against the organisation’s Social Value and Sustainability
Strategy and Action Plan. Our commitment was recognised in March 2017 by the
award of a certificate from the Public Health England & NHSE Sustainable
Development Unit that recognised our “excellence in sustainability reporting”. As a
commissioning organisation, building social value means using our position and
responsibilities to increase the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of the
people we serve. As these areas form the fundamental principles of sustainable
development as well, our strategy brings together our obligations to set out a
Sustainable Development Management Plan and not just comply with The Public
Services (Social Value) Act 2012 but to place the approach at the centre of our
thinking, policy, commissioning and practice. This is to ensure the way the CCG
invests and acts achieves maximum benefit to the population we serve, both now
and in the future.
It is recognised that most of our carbon footprint derives from commissioning health
and care services and from the procurement of other services. The resources we
use as an organisation are marginal in comparison to the services we commission.
Our priority remains to work in partnership with our main providers, predominately
NHS Trusts, to improve their performance and to minimise the harm and maximise
the positive gain that can be made to health from the way our providers operate.
Information regarding how our key providers perform against The Public Services
(Social Value) Act 2012 can be found within each Trust’s Annual Report.
What follows represents the key CCG achievements in 2016/17:•

Social value has been included as a key requirement in tender documentation
and specifications for services ensuring NHS Liverpool CCG is maximising
the influence it can achieve as a commissioner. For example, social value
formed part of the tender documentation and bidder responses for the reprocurement of Alternative Provider Medical Services (APMS) practices.

•

Work has progressed on developing a social model of health to enable
achievement of improved health outcomes. To this end, we are supporting a
Macmillan funded pilot in Liverpool to deliver a community wellbeing service
specifically for cancer patients. Learning from the pilot will inform future
commissioning models.
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•

The second year of the Healthy Liverpool Community Investment Programme
was completed with 56 organisations involved. Evaluation of the programme
to date has demonstrated significant benefits in improving wellbeing, building
community relations and developing community capacity for health
improvement. The third year of the programme is now underway with 28
partner organisations involved.



The volunteer and participation programme had been fully embedded in the
organisation and is designed with strong social value outcomes at its core.

In addition to in-year progress, NHS Liverpool CCG continues to focus on how our
accommodation and practices contribute towards sustainable development. The
figures below show resource consumption from our commissioned activity.


More than 29,000 tCo2e were generated from the pharmaceuticals used by
commissioned services (including General Practice) *



More than 250,000 tCo2e are produced by the providers of NHS care to local
residents through our commissioning activity *
*Derived from an analysis of financial spend through the NHS Sustainability Unit.

Unfortunately we are unable to report resources used through CCG headquarters
accommodation as our landlord is currently unable to disaggregate specific
information for the two floors that we occupy from the wider use of the building
complex. Outstanding individual utility meters have recently been installed in the
building and we fully expect to be in a position to report this information for 2017/18.
However, it is important to note that the accommodation has a number of features
specifically designed to reduce energy consumption. Notably: •

The hot and cold water demands of the building are complete with flow
restrictors to reduce water consumption

•

The heating and cooling of the office space is achieved via four-pipe fan coil
units with 2 port pressure independent control valves to reduce energy
consumption

•

High efficiency, low energy LED lightening is provided in conjunction with a
lightening controls system complete with presence (PIR)/absence detection
and daylight harvesting to reduce energy consumption

•

Facilities are provided for on-site recycling of waste.

Liverpool CCG encourages employees to travel via public transport in the form of
offering to purchase an annual train or bus pass. These are purchased by the CCG
and paid back by the employee over the 12 months of use. Currently 11% of staff
have an annual train/bus ticket using this method. In total, 37.1% of employees
travel to work via public transport. Provision for cyclists is also made by way of cycle
storage and changing facilities, including showers, to encourage use of sustainable
transport.

Page 38

We also offer employees the opportunity to purchase a bike through the national
cycle scheme whereby an employee can purchase a bike up to the value of £1000
and pay the costs back over 12 months. In total 12.8% of staff cycle or walk to work.
In addition, the CCG has purchased a number of passes for the Liverpool City
Council run “Citybike” scheme, so that staff can use bikes to travel around the city
when travelling to meetings.
In 2016/17 the CCG spent the following on travel:
Business Travel
Mileage – cost

2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

£23,759

£ 26,968

£ 17,252

68,280

77,428

51,415

£21,464

£ 36,584

£ 33,598

Rail (km)

71,939

160,496

128,404

Air – cost

£1,318

£ 3,935

£ 3,084

Air - Short Haul
(km)

10,393

18,294

18,668

Mileage - use (km)
Rail – cost

The Climate Change Act 2008 set legally binding targets for the UK to reduce carbon
emissions by 80% by 2050. The NHS is a significant emitter of carbon emissions and
through the National Sustainability Strategy is committed to reducing CO2e by 34%
by 2020. NHS Liverpool CCG, through its Social Value and Sustainability Strategy
implementation is working to reduce its carbon emissions and those of its providers
to support this national goal.
As part of the national requirements to plan for ‘adaptation’ required to meet the
likely climate change challenges ahead the CCG has through the Emergency
Preparedness and Resilience Agenda, ensured that plans are cognisant of these
risks and make provision for mitigating action as required.
The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires public bodies to consider how
they can increase social value and NHS Liverpool CCG is going above and beyond
the requirements of the legislation through its Social Value Strategy implementation.
1.15 Patient & Public Involvement
We recognise that without understanding the needs, experiences and expectations
of local people we would simply be unable to carry out our commissioning
responsibilities effectively.
The CCG’s Social Value and Engagement Team works extensively with patients and
members of the public. Engagement is embedded in each of the Healthy Liverpool
programme areas and the clinical work streams. The team is led by the Governing
Body Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement and supported by the Social
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Value and Engagement Lead, Senior Project Manager, Social Value and Engagement
Officer and the Social Value and Engagement Administrator.
We want to ensure that information and opportunities for involvement are available
and accessible to all Liverpool residents. To this end, in addition to our ‘in-house’
engagement structure we have a short-term contract with ‘Volunteer Centre
Liverpool’ to support us in developing and implementing a framework for volunteering
and participation. This framework was fully embedded into the day-to- day business
of NHS Liverpool CCG during 206/17 to supplement wider engagement and
empowers individual patients to take control of their own health and actively contribute
to how services are shaped. Details of current volunteering opportunities can be found
here:- http://www.volunteercentreliverpool.org.uk/healthy- liverpool.aspx
We have continued our commitment to working for and in partnership with the people
and patients of Liverpool as well as strengthening our partnerships with local
government, voluntary community social enterprise (VCSE) organisations and the
wider community. It is essential to reflect the diverse populations and their needs in
the way that services are commissioned and we firmly believe that this collaborative
approach to engagement, involvement and consultation (when required) achieves
the best outcomes for residents.
The structures that underpin our approach and which have contributed towards
comprehensive and effective engagement during 2016/17 include the following:
•

Patient Engagement & Experience Group
A strategic group designed to oversee the delivery and implementation of
NHS Liverpool CCG’s Stakeholder Engagement Strategy. The Patient
Engagement & Experience Group also acts as the ‘approvals’ group for
engagement and consultation planning. Chaired by the Governing Body Lay
Member for Patient and Public Involvement, membership includes
representatives from Liverpool CCG’s Engagement, Quality and Complaints
teams, Liverpool City Council, Healthwatch Liverpool and a patient
representative.

•

Patient Representatives (Programme and Project level)
Patient representatives are local people with experience of using health
services and with connections to local communities. Their role is to represent
the ‘patient voice’ within programme or project areas and to highlight ‘real life’
experiences of patients. During 2016/17 patient representatives have been
sought through Participation Frameworks, whilst Volunteer Patient
Representatives have contributed and influenced key areas such as the
Healthy Lung Programme, the Dermatology Review work stream, quality
monitoring and procurement.

•

Engagement Partners Framework
Continuing to work with VCSEs through our Engagement Partners Framework
has enabled us to extend our reach into the diverse communities of Liverpool;
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utilising the expertise and connections that exist within the voluntary sector to
facilitate dialogue and create the right conditions for meaningful engagement.
In this, particular attention has been made to ensure that the voices of
vulnerable and hard to reach groups are represented, heard, and responded
to.
The Engagement Partners Framework was reviewed in 2016/17 and an
analysis of the CCG’s reach and connections into communities were still
limited; particularly in LGBT and Transgender communities. To remedy this,
the CCG issued an ‘open call’ to the sector and actively approached
organisations working with these communities. After recruiting new partners to
the Framework (there are now a total of 154 ‘approved’ partners included) we
are more confident of reaching those groups who are least likely to participate
- groups who traditionally experience health inequalities such as vulnerable
people or those with protected characteristics.
This approach continues to deliver both increased insight from the various
groups as well as providing significant organisational learning, social value
and community health development outcomes; helping to inform our approach
going forward. Below is an example of feedback from an engagement partner
working with substance misusers:
“We feel that this particular community are least responsive to
providing feedback and opinions through questionnaires and
reports. They seem to respond better through group activity and
interactive workshops as this provokes deeper discussion.
Successfully engaging with this particular community requires
specific skills, and so when seeking to engage the community
again we suggest calling upon those services who already have
the trust and rapport of this group and the skillset to create a
platform for them to explore their ideas and opinions”.
The engagement approach has also influenced our partners organisational
learning and enhanced future community provision for wellbeing activities, as
the example below highlights:
“The Health Trainer, Admin Worker, Directors and a growing
team of volunteers including younger people took part [in the
engagement]. They have reported growing confidence in talking
to people and new insights. Additional training in framing
questions has seen them redesign discussion scripts to good
effect. It has been a positive experience for the organisation
and identified areas for programme development.”
During 2016/17 the CCG has worked with 32 engagement partners across
seven engagement areas. Using this approach, we have engaged with
approximately 9,828 people. Below is a breakdown of the number of people
who identified themselves in various categories during the engagement.
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Category
Abuse/crime
Addictions
BME
Traveller
C&YP
C&YP Vulnerable
Cancer
Carers
Disability
Fathers
FGM
Homeless
LTCs
LD
LGBT
•

Number Engaged Category
179
Men
296
Mental health
Mothers
of
2834
young children
5
Older people
894
Poverty/debt
70
Pregnant women
4
Refugee & AS
343
Religion/belief
Sensory
227
impairment
42
Single parent
5
Social isolation
15
Students
1018
Unemployed
86
Veterans
133
Women

Number Engaged
2061
580
630
1119
1330
311
16
3005
747
251
856
47
8
38
4722

Community Research Volunteer
The role of Community Research Volunteers was created during 2016/17 to
support NHS Liverpool CCG in extending our reach into communities.
Volunteers are supported to interact with the local community to promote and
inspire conversations about the NHS and assist the Social Value and
Engagement Team with delivering a variety of community engagement
activities, designed to get people talking about health services, thinking about
what their experiences have been and what they want from local services.
Twenty four volunteers have been recruited to date and all are passionate
about raising the quality of local NHS services.
Volunteers are provided with a package of training to deliver this role, which
has been developed and is co-delivered by Healthwatch Liverpool. This
partnership approach creates consistency between each organisation’s
volunteer scheme and maximises opportunities for volunteers to work across
both organisations.
If you are interested in volunteering with NHS Liverpool CCG you can email
involvement@liverpoolccg.nhs.uk or call 0151 296 7537.

•

Patient Participation Groups (PPGs)
It is a contractual requirement for all
participation group (PPG) and to make
representative of the practice population.
these groups through the Governing Body
Involvement.
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GP practices to form a patient
reasonable efforts for this to be
The CCG is developing links with
Lay Member for Patient and Public

The CCG encourages Liverpool GP practices with established patient groups
to gather as much insight and information as possible to improve patient
involvement in making decisions about their own care. PPGs have
opportunities to influence at both individual practice level and at CCG level
through established engagement routes.
•

Patient Opinion
Patient Opinion is an independent feedback service that aims to promote
honest and meaningful conversations between patients and health services.
During 2016/17 NHS Liverpool CCG has continued to lead the Liverpool
health economy in subscribing to and implementing Patient Opinion (making
Liverpool the first health economy in the country to be signed up to receive
patient experience in this co-ordinated way). Patient Opinion has proven to be
a key building block in the overall patient experience assessment process and
its insight is now actively sought and embedded as part of engagement
planning, service redesign and service improvement. Feedback from public
engagement will continue to complement ‘patient stories’ and contribute to the
wider picture together with complaints and other key patient experience
intelligence sources.
Feedback received from Patient
https://www.patientopinion.org.uk/

•

Opinion

can

be

found

here:-

Public question time
Members of the public are welcomed to attend the monthly formal meetings of
the Governing Body and are given the opportunity to raise questions with
Governing Body members and officers at the end of the formal business
agenda. This ‘open’ question session is generally well received by the
members of the public who attend the formal Governing Body meetings and
has been a useful mechanism for highlighting real issues and concerns which
may have otherwise gone undetected.

•

Digital Engagement
Our digital engagement and social media presence has continued to develop
and we now have four main digital platforms which include an interactive
engagement platform (forms part of our website), Facebook page, YouTube
channel and Twitter feed. All these platforms are used to great effect in the
sharing of information and resources, seeking feedback on our plans and
developments, promoting engagement opportunities and communicating
news and updates about health and social care in Liverpool. Using social
media enables us to support and promote the activity and services provided
by the voluntary and community sector groups in Liverpool and offers a unique
opportunity in terms of evaluating the impact of digital tools. Our ‘audience’ in
each of these platforms continues to expand and goes from strength to
strength with each engagement activity, consultation or campaign, as the data
below shows:
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•
•
•
•
•

Healthy Liverpool Facebook has 1,788 likes;
Healthy Liverpool Twitter has 2,474 followers;
Liverpool CCG Twitter has 5,117 followers;
Liverpool CCG Engagement Platform has 2,246 registered users
and 54,322 visits

Continual Stakeholder Mapping
Liverpool CCG has developed a ‘stakeholder database’ which consists of a
broad range of local residents, community groups, organisations and groups
with protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010. This database is
continually updated and utilised to identify other people / groups who may
have an interest in being involved in communication and engagement
activities with the CCG. The database also has the ability to identify
individuals based on certain criteria such as postcode, areas of interest,
demographics and previous involvement.

•

Robust Engagement Planning
Embedding ‘pre-assessment’ Equality Impact Assessments into the
engagement planning process ensures the early consideration of potential
impacts of service changes or improvements and that conversations take
place with relevant people on relevant issues at the earliest opportunity.

During 2016/17, engagement activities were carried out in relation to the review of
services provided by Liverpool Women’s Hospital, Healthy Liverpool Programme
Level Engagement, Learning Disabilities, improving access to community care for
people living in care homes and the redesign of pre and post-operative cataract
services.
Information regarding the engagement for each of these can be found on our website
www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk and clicking ‘what do you think’. Below are two examples
of how we deliver engagement in practice and how this has positively influenced
planning and service delivery.
Pre-consultation engagement – Review of service provided by Liverpool
Women’s Hospital
Between June and August 2016, NHS Liverpool CCG undertook a period of
engagement relating to the review of services provided by Liverpool Women’s
Hospital. The engagement asked the public to comment on the ‘case for
change’ put forward by NHS Liverpool CCG (why changes were being
considered), identifying priorities in making improvements and describing their
experiences of the care provided at Liverpool Women’s Hospital.
Our website was not only used to share information about the review but also
hosted an online survey. The webpage received 3,870 visits during the
engagement period, of which 1,707 people viewed the online survey with 436
people responding to the survey.
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Our social media campaign reached approximately 122,654 people via
Facebook, 962 on YouTube and 215,923 on Twitter. Local media coverage
included the Liverpool Echo, BBC Radio Merseyside and ITV Granada
Reports.
Ten community engagement partners were commissioned to collect
information from a wide variety of community members. This enabled input
from diverse communities including groups who would not usually engage,
such as women, new mothers, BME communities, refugee and asylum
seeking women and those whose first language is not English. A variety of
methods were used to engage with community groups, including one-to-one
interviews, qualitative group discussions, supported completion of paper
surveys, immersive theatre, filmed events and ‘talking-heads’.
In addition to distributing a questionnaire, we arranged four events where
clinicians and commissioning leads shared information with participants and
discussed some of the key issues raised by the public. Due to the potential
impact on communities in Sefton and Knowsley our commissioning colleagues
for these areas also held similar events.
Overall, the CCG engaged with approximately 23,279 local people for the preconsultation exercise. This gave us invaluable insight into local people’s views
and opinions with the information gathered helping shape the potential
solutions (public opinion formed a key element of the scoring for the options
appraisal and will help shape and direct the formal consultation).
The commitment to social value and building health and wellbeing for
participants and community partners into the engagement process delivers
considerable benefits. Partners report how it has a positive impact on their
organisational profile, their volunteer and staff involvement and regularly
highlight how their communities have embraced the opportunity to participate.
Communities and groups often comment that they have never been asked for
their views before and describe how empowered and influential they feel. The
success in involving our diverse communities influences how services are
shaped in ways which best meet their needs and if used by commissioners
effectively, has significant potential to reduce health inequalities. Investment
in communities and individuals in this way also directly contributes to
improved health and wellbeing.
•

Healthy Liverpool Programme Level Engagement
Between January – March 2016 a wide-ranging period of public engagement
took place to gather feedback on the next stage of plans for the Healthy
Liverpool Programme (and on each of the programme areas in more detail).
In order to fully understand the implications of the direction of travel for
individual programmes a number of coordinated public engagement activities
were held across the five Healthy Liverpool programme areas. The exercise
helped gather the views of local communities and voluntary/community
partner organisations. In addition, 35 VCSE engagement partners were
commissioned to share and support completion of the surveys. Activities
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included engaging with people in health care settings, community events and
discussions, film making, role playing, forum theatre and physical activity
days. In addition, nine public events were also held to share information and
seek views from Liverpool communities. Discussions were framed around the
engagement questions and at the majority of events participants also had an
opportunity to vote on the key questions for that topic.
Extensive use was also made of social media and traditional media to share
information and publicise the opportunity to participate. The most viewed
Facebook items an animation about Healthy Liverpool (1,650 views, 16%
completed), Urgent and Emergency Care Vox Pop (751 views, 27%
completed), Digital Care and Innovation Vox Pop (471 views, 31% completed)
and Hospital Services Vox Pop (449 views, 31% completed). On YouTube the
most popular videos were the animation (942 views) and ‘We share because
we care’ (973 views). Interestingly, an analysis of the people engaging with
Facebook showed that the majority were female (77%). For more information
and examples of the animations visit www.liverpooltalkshealth.info/healthyliverpool.
In total there were 4,106 responses across the five surveys which was fed into
in to each of the work streams. The table below provides a breakdown of the
engagement activities which involved a total of almost 7,000 people:

Priority area

Number of
survey
responses

Physical Activity
GP and Community services
Life Circumstances
Hospital Services
Urgent Care

925
1,090
322
1,385
384

Number
of Number of
participants involved engagement
in
community partners
engagement events
2,100
2,069
979
1,741
25

NB - some of the above participants will have taken part in more than one activity or
completed multiple questionnaires.

The impact of this engagement can be evidenced by the development of the
physical activity programme. As at 23rd March 2017 there are now:
o 67 new trained Walk Leaders across the city;
o 18 new walks established. 11 of which are open to the public and 7
which are for closed groups;
o 263 new registered walkers
Out of the 263 ‘new registered walkers’ only 15 were meeting the
recommended 150 minutes of physical activity when they first registered.
Those who are not meeting the recommended guideline are continue to use
the walk program to increase their activity levels.
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13
10
10
8
1

1.16 Improve Quality
The CCG has continued to take a comprehensive approach to quality improvement
in 2016/17, working in partnership with its providers of commissioned services and
other stakeholders. We assume responsibility for Quality Assurance by holding our
providers to account for the delivery of their contractual obligations and quality
standards. This localised approach involves systematic monitoring of quality
requirements as laid out in the Quality Schedule, alongside coordination of
collaborative forums and clinical quality and performance meetings for the seven
NHS Trusts for whom the CCG acts in the lead commissioner role. The CCG also
ensures representation for those Trusts where other CCGs act in the ‘lead’ role. The
internal governance route for escalation of strategic risks to quality continues to be
via the CCG’s Quality, Safety and Outcomes Committee (as a formal committee of
the Governing Body). Audit work carried out by our internal audit partners, Mersey
Internal Audit (MIAA) in 2016/17 of the CCG’s quality assurance processes and
reporting resulted in a ‘significant assurance’ rating.
There are clearly defined escalation processes which are known and understood
when routine intervention has proven ineffective, using contractual processes where
necessary. The CCG is aligned to NHSE quality concerns process, adopting the use
of the ‘trigger tool’ for escalation, alongside collaborative completion of the ‘Quality
Risk Profile’ tool where appropriate.
The CCG can demonstrate multiple examples where we have engaged and led
across the local economy to better understand quality related issues in a number of
provider organisations. Involvement in the development and implementation of the
‘multi-organisational root cause analysis tool’ has further supported improvements in
identifying and analysing lapses in the quality of care across the patient pathway.
In relation to those areas identified in ‘MyNHS’, the CCG can provide a
comprehensive account of its approach in improving performance across the six
priority areas as detailed below:
Mental Health
The current ‘Improved Access to Psychological Therapies’ (IAPT) recovery rate is
33% against the national standard of 50%. Work is ongoing with the service and the
IAPT Intensive Support Team, who are providing advice and support to deliver
service improvements that will impact positively on the standard. A masterclass on
improving recovery rates w a s h e l d during April 2017 which incorporated learning
from other IAPT sites.
Liverpool CCG, Sefton CCGs and Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust have
developed plans to deliver ‘Core 24’ liaison services in acute hospitals across the
North Mersey LDS. A bid had been made for national funding to ‘pump prime’ these
developments. We expect to have ‘Core 24’ services fully operational by the end of
March 2018.
In respect of Crisis Resolution Home Treatment (CRHT), the CCG has been liaising
with the local Strategic Clinical Network (SCN) to facilitate peer reviews against good
practice for CRHT teams. The Mersey Care review took place on 30th
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March 2017 and was undertaken by Lancashire Care. This review will be used to
inform future plans for developments to meet the required standards.
The CCG has seen a significant reduction in the number of Out of Area Placements
(OAPs) over recent months. Year-to-date data (March 2016 to Jan 2017) shows that
54 people have been placed out of area in comparison with 97 for the same period in
2015/16. However, the CCG is committed to eliminating OAPs and is working
collaboratively across the Cheshire and Merseyside STP footprint to develop local
plans. This work is being supported by the SCN. In recognition of this priority area,
the CCG has selected OAPs as one of its Quality Premium measures for 2017/18.
Diabetes
The CCG has seen an increase in the National Diabetes Audit (NDA) participation
from 25% in 2014/15 to 31% in 2015/16. Although uptake still remains low, the CCG
has commissioned Liverpool Diabetes Partnership (LDP) to have a presence in each
GP practice to support the 2017/18 NDA submissions. Based on 2014/15 data the
England participation rates for the patients achieving the NICE treatment targets was
39.8% and Liverpool CCG was considerably higher at 44.3%. This participation rate
suggests Liverpool CCG is the best performing CCG, when compared to our Right
Care peers.
The CCG has a contractual arrangement through the Primary Care Quality Premium
whereby local practices are monitored on their achievement of the eight NICE
recommended treatment targets, with support offered by the Liverpool Diabetes
Partnership (LDP). The overall local performance for patients receiving all eight
treatment targets stands at 62.65%. The CCG has performed well with completion of
BP <140/80 at 79.19% compared to the England average of 77.6%, which ranks
Liverpool CCG 2nd against its Right Care peers. Patients with a Cholesterol <5
stands at 83.8% in comparison to England of 80.2% which ranks the CCG as the top
performer when bench marked against our Right Care peers.
Using 2016/17 month 10 performance data, the CCG is currently achieving a higher
level of structured diabetes education (82.45%). During 2017/18 the LDP will be
working with practices to support referral into structured education. The CCG is
currently exploring participation in ‘wave 3’ of the National Diabetes Prevention
Programme in 2017, which will also see an increase in participation in structured
education across the city.
Dementia
Increasing dementia diagnosis remains a priority area for Liverpool CCG. Member
practices are encouraged to identify and diagnose dementia through a combination
of clinical leadership, peer support and the Liverpool Quality Improvement Scheme.
This approach has proven successful, with the actual dementia diagnosis rate for
people 65+ in February 2017 at 75.3% against an expected prevalence of 70%.
The Dementia Strategy sets out the intention that all those accessing dementia
services will:
•
•

Receive information both pre and post diagnosis;
Receive support to allow them to live well with dementia and will have access
to appropriate services, as identified by a personalised care plan.
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The ‘enhanced’ service in General Practice also supports case finding and reviews
of people diagnosed with dementia.
Learning Disability
The CCG has made great strides in 2016/17 in reducing inpatient rates for those with
a learning disability. By establishing robust systems and processes, we have been
able to facilitate a collaborative approach between commissioners and our local
health and social care partners. Where appropriate, this has enabled inpatients to
move through their care pathway much more rapidly and be supported to live in
appropriate community settings. No inpatient has been readmitted following
discharge in 2016/17, further demonstrating the effectiveness of our joint working
arrangements in reducing reliance on inpatient care and enabling patients to live in
sustainable community settings. Consequently, Liverpool has made good progress
against our projected discharge trajectory and can provide assurance of delivery
against this central objective of the Transforming Care agenda.
The CCG recognises that additional work is needed to improve the rates of people
included in a learning disability register and to increase access to an annual health
check for people with a learning disability. Plans are in place for local data to be
shared with primary healthcare facilitators to ensure that lower than expected figures
are quickly investigated and targeted support made available to improve trajectories.
Cancer
The CCG is involved in a range of schemes to improve the number of new cases of
cancer diagnosed at Stage 1 and 2 (as a proportion of all new cases of cancer
diagnosed). This work includes involvement in campaigns to increase public
awareness of cancer signs and symptoms, the benefits of early presentation and
screening programmes and when to seek help from the GP (prioritising areas of
higher deprivation and cancer incidence). Positive stories regarding cancer survival
are actively promoted to the public in order to reduce levels of fear and fatalism
whilst Liverpool City Councillors have championed cancer screening programmes
and disseminated information to the public. The development and distribution of a
‘primary care cancer screening bulletin’ continues to demonstrate uptake at GP
practice level. This is supplemented by support to primary care audit, system
developments and training to improve cancer awareness, referral and screening
coverage rates (e.g. practice ‘champions’, cleaning lists, identification of spoken
language and translated leaflets, electronic alerts, SMS reminders, TV screen text
and endorsement letters).
The CCG is also working in partnership with NHS England to improve service delivery
of the cancer screening programmes and two-year strategy, as well as
involvement in review of breast screening service. Three GP ‘Neighbourhood’ areas
with low uptake have several schemes in place including a pilot bowel cancer
screening programme and the targeting of BAME and socially deprived communities.
Delivery of the Liverpool Healthy Lung Programme - Year 1 (2016/17) and Year 2
(2017/18) aims to specifically identify lung cancer at an earlier stage in communities
with high mortality rates. The CCG is also reviewing the use of revised 2-week wait
referral forms and has undertaken direct engagement with primary care to support
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their use in practice. The modelled impact of increases in 2-week wait referrals will
also be undertaken to enable planning with trusts and pathway review.
Work commencing in 2017/18 includes ‘could it be cancer?’ an initiative for
diagnostic clinics to support vague symptoms; particularly in people with comorbidities, frailty or worrying symptoms which do not fit a single ‘suspected’ cancer
pathway.
The CCG is supporting the development of the North Mersey and STP diagnostics
work streams which will be instrumental in achieving consistent standards for
diagnostic services and identifying longer-term workforce models to meet increasing
demand; particularly in imaging, endoscopy and pathology. To reduce time from
referral to treatment the CCG is participating in the design and implementation of
‘timed best practice pathways’, particularly for lung, head and neck, urology and
upper Gastro Intestinal (GI).
We are continuing to work with our partners in reviewing pathways where patients
have breached the 62-day standard; using the learning from these incidents to
improve and change systems. This work often crosses several organisations and is
based on principles of close collaboration
The one-year survival rates for all cancers in Liverpool is now identical to the England
average rate (both 70.4% in 2014) although this rate does vary by tumour type. For
breast, colorectal and lung combined Liverpool has a higher 1-year survival rate than
the England average (72.3% compared with 71.5% in 2014). Liverpool has a higher
one-year survival rate for breast (97.5% compared with the national average of 96.5,
which is statistically significant) and lung (38.5% compared with 36.8% national
average). For colorectal cancer Liverpool is marginally lower than England average
(76.9% compared with 77.2%).
In relation to the average score given by patients asked to rate their care on a scale
of 1-10*, satisfaction with local cancer services is good when compared with national
figures. Work is ongoing to continue to improve experience for patients; particular
progress is being made in the following areas:

•
•
•

•

Embedding holistic needs assessment into cancer pathways and end of
treatment summaries;
Promotion of health and wellbeing events for people coming towards the end
of treatment;
Detailed planning has started for a Macmillan commissioned 2-year cancer
wellbeing service pilot (to commence in early 2017). This will provide
community holistic needs assessment to support identification of need and
connection to community assets to improve quality of life, wellbeing and
recovery;
Continued engagement with primary care and offers of education to maintain
and build experience and confidence in delivery of cancer care reviews in
primary care
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CAMHS
The CCG is currently working towards achieving the milestones identified in the selfassessment for Children and Young People’s Mental Health (CAMHS), although
challenges continue in delivery of the Crisis Care and Emergency Liaison
milestones. The CCG has continued to commission a high quality, well governed
CAMHS Partnership with excellent outcomes. This includes meeting the national
targets of increased children and young people (CYP) seen for evidence-based
treatment, additional investment in CYP mental health, increased workforce and
access and waiting times for eating disorder service.
Maternity
The latest available statistic for the number of live births to women resident in
Liverpool is 5,851 in 2014/15. In 2015/16, 5,472 were delivered at Liverpool
Women's Hospital (LWH), which includes the neonatal facility on site. Neonatal
mortality and still birth rates are included in the quality schedule for LWH and
monitored by the CCG via the Clinical Quality and Performance Group. In addition,
LWH has now adopted the Saving Babies’ Lives Care Bundle, in line with the
Department of Health target of reducing the rates of stillbirth in England by 20% by
2020. This has also been incorporated into the Quality and Performance Schedule
(LWH is monitored against the four key elements) and will enable the CCG to
monitor progress against the current rate to ensure improvement. The CCG is part of
the Cheshire and Merseyside Improving Maternity Experience Vanguard whose aim
is to improve standards of care and reduce variation in quality.
With regard to women's experience of maternity services, the CCG score is broadly
in line with other Merseyside CCGs. LWH reports a Friends and Family score across
antenatal, postnatal ward and postnatal community all above the England national
average. The birth score is below the England national average and is the focus of
quality improvement via the CQPG. LWH, working with the CCG and as part of the
Vanguard, is the first Maternity Choice and Personalisation Pioneer Bid to be
launched, which seeks to offer women greater choice of interventions as part of the
antenatal, birth and postnatal pathways. This introduces an enhanced level of
personalisation and should provide the potential for improvement in the overall
maternity experience. In addition, the C&M Vanguard has also been successful in its
bid to be an Early Implementer for the implementation of the service improvement
recommendations contained in the Better Births Report (Feb 2017).
The scoring in relation to choices in maternity services is broadly in line with the
other Merseyside CCGs. Women in Liverpool have a choice of any NHS provider
and the additional choice of a commissioned independent community midwifery
provider for low risk births, including home births. Stage 2 of the Pioneer Bid will be
to extend the current choice beyond LWH to a wider range of existing providers, and
to potentially attract new providers across the maternity pathway. In addition, and as
part of the Pioneer Bid, the promotion of choice will increase the ability of women to
make more informed choices regarding their maternity care.
1.17 Reducing Health Inequality
Under Section 14T of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) the CCG
has a legal duty to have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients
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in access to health services and the outcomes achieved. Furthermore, the CCG
should exercise its functions with a view to securing that health services are provided
in an integrated manner, and are integrated with health-related and social care
services, where it is considered that this would improve quality, reduce inequalities in
access to those services or reduce inequalities in the outcomes achieved.
Tackling inequalities is at the heart of Liverpool CCG’s core values; ensuring that
‘everyone counts’ and that we commission services fairly and inclusively and with no
community or group left behind in the improvements that will be made to health
outcomes across the city. This is particularly important in light of the challenges the
NHS face as outlined in the Five Year Forward View.
Reducing inequalities has been at the centre of the Healthy Liverpool Programme
and we have continued throughout 2016/17 to raise both an awareness, but more
importantly an understanding, of the inequalities across the city and to ensure that
development and investment plans take full account of the need to impact upon
those inequalities. The programme has been developed and implemented with an
evidence based approach focusing on clear outcomes and impact. Summarised
below are the impacts and outcomes of some the key Healthy Liverpool schemes in
2016/17:
•

Physical Activity: The Physical Activity Programme has engaged 24,000
Liverpool residents in projects and events, with 36 new community based
projects increasing activity within harder to reach communities in areas of
deprivation. It has embedded physical activity in the GP Specification,
reaching around 17,500 patients. The ‘Fit for Me’ social movement campaign
conducted in 2016/17 had 50% recall in terms of evaluation, of which 18%
took action. This has played no small part in Liverpool moving up from 7th in
the ‘core city’ average rankings for physical activity to 4th out of 11 of its
‘peers’.

•

Digital: User engagement results show that more than half of patients have
reported decreases in their health utilisation. In addition, 90% of people said
they felt more in control, more confident or better able to cope with their
condition with over 50% of people engaged reporting improvements in their
lifestyle and/or health management.

•

Healthy Ageing (including End of Life): The introduction of the Frailty
Service at the Royal Liverpool & Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust
and community health service has delivered positive outcomes for older
people, with a high throughput of patients aged over 75 experiencing a low
length of stay and 80% of patients discharged to their usual place of
residence. The introduction of the service has meant that older people
admitted to hospital are receiving evidenced based ‘best practice’ which
includes the completion of comprehensive geriatric assessment on
admission. Once referred to the service patients are seen and assessed
quickly with 94% of cases resulting in an assessment by the Frailty Specialty
Nurse in less than one hour of the initial referral.
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•

Primary Care: Liverpool CCG has invested in a number of schemes in
primary care which are delivering improved access, additional capacity and
significant quality outcomes. And for prescribing, the gap between Liverpool
and the national cost has narrowed despite high levels of deprivation in the
city and a high number of specialist centres using high cost drugs.

•

Neighbourhood Development: The cornerstone of the Healthy Liverpool
Community Model is the establishment of integrated community care teams
to deliver pro-active person centred care to enable people to stay well;
receiving their care within the community setting thereby reducing avoidable
admissions. Using the national definition of ‘Avoidable Emergency
Admissions’, Liverpool has seen a reduction of 8% (1,367 less admissions) in
2016/17 when compared to the previous year.

Our commitment to joint working with City Council and other partners is another key
way in which we strive to reduce inequalities across the city, through in particular the
work of the Health and Wellbeing Board as evidenced on page 14 of this report
where we highlight the work of the Board over the last twelve months. The work of
the Board and the CCG itself is very much influenced and informed by the Joint
Strategic Needs Analysis and our close working with the Director of Public Health
and her team.

1.18 Health & Wellbeing Strategy
The delivery of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy requires the contributions
and involvement of all members of the Liverpool Health and Wellbeing Board and its
partner organisations.
Since the Liverpool Health and Wellbeing Board was established in 2013, Liverpool
CCG has been an integral part of the delivery of the identified priorities of the Board,
which reflect the priorities outlined in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. As
well as contributing to the drafting of the work programme of the Board, Liverpool
CCG’s nominated lead officer liaises on a regular basis with the Liverpool City
Council lead officer for the Board on the day-to-day management of agendas and
any other actions required.
Examples of the contributions Liverpool CCG made in addressing the needs of the
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in 2016/17 include:
•
•
•

Key contributions in the development of a new 5-year Alcohol Strategy for
Liverpool, including the Liverpool CCG Executive Sponsor for Alcohol cochairing the Liverpool Alcohol Strategy Group;
Engagement in the development of the Safe and Well Visit Initiative by
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service, with the CCG having an identified lead
officer;
The development of the Liverpool Families Trust to provide strategic direction,
oversight and accountability for collaborative ways of working in support of
children and families in Liverpool, with the CCG Clinical and Quality /
Safeguarding Lead being appointed co-chair.
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The review of the above contributions by Liverpool CCG in delivering the Joint
Health and Wellbeing Strategy was considered by the Health & Wellbeing Board on
23rd March 2017 where it received formal endorsement by the Chair.

Katherine Sheerin
Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer NHS Liverpool CCG
30th May 2017

Page 54

CASE STUDY: Healthy Lung
Liverpool has one of the highest mortality rates from lung cancer, and survival from
the disease is the second lowest out of 20
common cancers in England and Wales.
There are also estimated to be around 6,000
undiagnosed cases of chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease (COPD) in the city.
Liverpool’s Healthy Lung programme
launched in spring 2016, with the aim of
taking a proactive approach to the early
detection of both conditions.
During its first year, the programme was
piloted in four areas of the city identified as
having some of the highest rates of lung
cancer mortality and incidence: Picton,
Everton, Speke and Norris Green.

It used a two-phased approach to
specifically target support to those aged between 58 – 70 who have previously
smoked or who already have COPD, and are therefore identified as being at higher
risk of developing lung cancer. Firstly, ‘Breathe Freely’ health awareness events
started conversations about lung health, and how it could be maintained and
improved, in local communities. Then, in partnership with GP practices in the target
areas, the programme wrote to patients to invite them to attend a face to face
assessment in clinic with a lung nurse. This involves a calculation of the person’s risk
of developing lung cancer in the next five years. Those who triggered a threshold
were invited to have a chest CT scan at a local hospital. In clinic, the lung nurses
also offer lifestyle advice, and referrals to other services for support with things such
as diet, exercise, smoking, and alcohol.
The programme has made a significant impact in its initial pilot year. A total of 87
Breathe Freely community events were undertaken across local communities,
attended by over 2,000 people. At these events, 813 spirometry tests were
undertaken, of which 18% (almost 1 in 5 people) had an abnormal result and were
referred to their GP for further testing and support.
In addition, a total of 7,150 people were invited to attend a Healthy Lung clinic during
the programme’s first year. As of March 2017, 3,207 had either already attended or
booked an appointment to attend the clinic (45%) assessment and get advice about
their lung health. A further 1,453 spirometry tests had been undertaken in these
clinics, of which 43% showed an abnormal result, and were referred on to their GP
for further investigation.
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At the time of writing at least 11 cancers have been
identified and treated through the programme during
its pilot year.
Importantly, an evaluation study on Year 1 of the
programme by Queen Mary University, London and
the University of Liverpool and found that it had
successfully increased early diagnosis amongst
targeted, high risk groups. Of those who received a
lung cancer diagnosis through the programme, 75%
received it at stages 1a or 1b - an early stage;
typically in Liverpool 70% of lung cancer cases are
not diagnosed until they are at stage 3 or 4, which
is very late and makes treatment much harder.
Results from the first neighbourhood pilot were
presented in a poster at the Royal College of
General Practitioners (RCGP) Conference (October
2016) and won the Innovation in Primary Care
Award.
The project is also part of a national collaboration
with NHS England, Cancer Research UK, and
Macmillan Cancer Support (known collectively as
the ACE programme). Locally, a number of
partners have been collaborating with Liverpool
CCG to make the programme happen: Liverpool
Heart and Chest NHS Foundation Trust; Aintree
University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust; the
Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University
Hospitals NHS Trust; Liverpool City Council; and
the University of Liverpool.
In its second year the Healthy Lung clinics will move to four new neighbourhood
areas in Liverpool – Croxteth, Anfield, Riverside, and the city centre – and people up
to the age of 75 will be invited to attend.
One patient who has already benefitted from the Healthy Lung programme is 70year-old Dennis Kerrigan, from Kirkdale. After receiving an invitation to attend a
clinic, Dennis was referred for some scans, which revealed cancer in his right lung.
Seven weeks after surgery at Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital, Dennis was told
by his surgeon that the operation had been a success. Dennis said: “I’m delighted to
have been given the all clear. I feel so lucky to have had the cancer spotted so early
and to have been treated so quickly through the Healthy Lung Programme – the care
and treatment that I’ve received from everyone involved has been first class.”

Page 56

2. Accountability Report
Corporate Governance Report
2.1 Members Report
2.1.1 Member practices
The following table includes details of the 92 Practices that comprise the
membership of Liverpool CCG as at the 31st March 2017:
Liverpool Central Locality
Practice Name

Practice Address

AbercrombyHealth Centre
Benim Medical Centre

Grove Street
2 Penvalley Crescent

L7 7HG
L6 3BY

Bigham Rd Medical Centre

Bigham Road

L6 6DW

Brownlow Group Practice

70 Pembroke Place

L69 3GF

Derby Lane Medical Centre

88 Derby Lane

L13 3DN

Dovecot Family Health Centre

Longreach Road

L14 0NL

Dunstan Village Group Practice

131 Earle Road

L7 6HD

Earle Road Medical Centre

131 Earle Road

L7 6HD

Edge Hill Health Centre
Fairfield Medical Centre

Kensington Neighbourhood Centre, Jubilee
2 Penvalley Crescent

L7 8SJ
L6 3BY

Green Lane Medical Centre

15 Green Lane

L13 7DY

Hornspit Medical Centre

Hornspit Lane

L12 5LT

Brownlow Health

L7 8SJ

Knotty Ash Medical Centre

Kensington Neighbourhood Centre, Jubilee
Drive
411 East Prescot Road

Brownlow Health

Marybone Unit 1, 2 Vauxhall Road

L3 2BG

Old Swan Health Centre (Agarwal)

Crystal Close

L13 2GA

Primary Care Connect Ltd/Bridgewater *

Park View Medical Centre , Orphan Drive

L6 7UN

Picton Green Medical Centre

Picton Neighbourhood Health &
Children’s Centre, 137 Earle Road

L7 6HD

Brownlow Health

Princes Park Health Centre, Bentley Road

L8 0SY

Riverside Centre For Health

Park Street

L8 6QP

Rock Court Surgery

4 Crystal Close

L13 2GA

Sefton Park Medical Centre

Smithdown Road

L15 2LQ

St. James' Health Centre

29 Great George Street

L1 5DZ

Stoneycroft Medical Centre

Stoneville Road

L13 6QD

The Riverside Centre For Health (Dr

Picton Neighbourhood Health &
Children’s Centre 137 Earle Road

L7 6HD

Jude)
Vauxhall Health Centre

Limekiln Lane

L5 8XR

West Derby Medical Centre

3 W interburn Crescent

L12 8TQ

Yew Tree Centre

Bereford Road

L14 4ED
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L14 2DE

Matchworks (South Locality)
Practice Name

Practice Address

Ash Surgery

1 Ashfield Road

L17 0BY

Belle Vale Health Centre

Hedgefield Road

L25 2XE

Dingle Park Practice

Park Street

L8 6QP

Fulwood Green Medical Centre

Jericho Lane

L17 4AR

Primary Care Connect Ltd./Bridgewater *

South Liverpool Treatment, 32 Church
Road

L19 2LW

Gateacre Medical Centre

49 Belle Vale Road

L25 2PA

Gateacre Brow Surgery

1 Gateacre Brow

L25 3PA

Grassendale General Practice

23 Darby Road

L19 9BP

Greenbank Drive Surgery

8 Greenbank Drive

L17
1AW
L18 1HG

Greenbank Road Surgery

1B Greenbank Road

Healthaction *
Hunts Cross Health Centre

Fiveways Family Health Centre, 215
Childwall Road
70 Hillfoot Road

Lance Lane Medical Centre

19 Lance Lane

L25
OND
L15 6TS

The Margaret Thompson Medical Centre

105 East Millwood Road

L24 6TH

Mather Avenue Surgery

584 Mather Avenue

L19 4UG

Primary Care Connect Ltd/Bridgewater *

Netherley Health Centre, Middlemass Hey

L27 7AF

Oak Vale Medical Centre

215 Childwall Road

L15 6UT

Penny Lane Surgery

7 Smithdown Place

L15 9EH

Queens Drive Surgery

73 Queens Drive

L18 2DU

Rocky Lane Surgery

80 Rocky Lane

L16 1JD

The Riverside Centre For Health

Park Street

L8 6QP

The Riverside Centre For Health

Park Street

L8 6QP

Rutherford Medical Centre

1 Rutherford Road

L18 0HJ

Sandringham Medical Centre

1a Aigburth Road

L17 4JP

Speke Health Centre

75 South Parade

L24 2XP

Speke Health Centre (Choudhary)

75 South Parade

L24 2XP

Speke Health Centre (Thakur)

75 South Parade

L24 2XP

Storrsdale Medical Centre

1 Storrsdale Road

L18 7JY

The Elms Medical Centre

3 The Elms

L8 3SS

Valley Medical Centre

75 Hartsbourne Avenue

L25 1RY

Village Medical Centre

20 Quarry Street

L25 5JA

Village Surgery

South Liverpool NHS Treatment Centre

L19 2LW

Primary Care Connect Ltd./Bridgewater *

West Speke Health Centre, Blacklock Hall
Road

L24 3TY

Woolton House Medical Centre

6 W oolton Street

L25 5JA
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L15 6UT

North Locality
Practice Name

Practice Address

Abingdon Family Health Care Centre
Aintree Park Group Practice

361 Queens Drive
46 Moss Lane

L4 8SJ
L9 8AL

Albion Surgery

45 Everton Road

L6 2EH

Anfield Group Practice

Townsend Lane Neighbourhood
Centre, 98 Townsend Lane

L6 0BB

Bousfield Health Centre (Roberts)

Westminster Road

L4 4PP

Bousfield Health Centre (Shah)

Westminster Road

L4 4PP

Ellergreen Medical Centre

24 Carr Lane

L11 2RY

Primary Care Connect Ltd/Bridgewater *

Everton Road Health Centre, 45 Everton L6 2EH
Rd

Fir Tree Drive Medical Centre

Fir Tree Drive South

L12 0JE

Gilmoss Medical centre

48 Petherick Road

L11 0AG

Great Homer Street Surgery

32 Conway Street

L5 3SF

Grey Road Surgery

L9 1AD

Islington House Surgery

Breeze Hill Neighbourhood Health
Centre 1-3 Rice Lane
Islington House Medical Centre

Jubilee Medical Centre

52 Croxteth Hall Lane

L11 4UG

Kirkdale Medical Centre

14 W aller Close

L4 4QJ

Langbank Medical Centre

Broad Lane

L11 1AD

Long Lane Medical Centre

Long Lane

L9 6DQ

Mere Lane GP Practice

Mere Lane Neighbourhood Centre, Mere
Lane

L5 0QW

Moss W ay Surgery

53 Moss W ay

L11 0BL

Poulter Road Medical Centre

34 Poulter Road

L9 0HJ

Priory Medical Centre

Belmont Grove

L6 4EW

Primary Care Connect Ltd./Bridgewater *

Townsend Lane Neighbourhood Centre,
98 Townsend Lane

L6 0BB

Townsend Lane (Dr Syed)

Townsend Lane Neighbourhood Centre,
98 Townsend Lane
Breeze Hill Neighbourhood Centre,
1-3 Rice Lane
Mere Lane Neighbourhood
Centre, 49-51 Mere Lane
6 Stopgate Lane

L4 8SJ

Stanley Medical Centre, 60 Stanley
Road
Stanley Medical Centre

L5 2QA

L6 0BB

Walton Village Medical Centre (Razvi)

Townsend Lane Neighbourhood Centre,
98 Townsend Lane
Breeze Hill Neighbourhood Health
Centre, 1-3 Rice Lane
172 Walton Village

Westminster Medical Centre

Aldams Grove, W estminster Road

L4 3TT

Westmoreland GP Centre

Aintree Hospital, Lower Lane

L9 7AL

Healthaction *
Healthaction *
Stopgate Lane Medical Centre
Healthaction *
Stanley Medical Centre (Harvey)
Primary Care Connect Ltd/Bridgewater *
Walton Medical Centre
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L3 8DD

L4 6TW
L5 0QW
L9 6AP

L5 2QA

L9 1AD
L4 6TW

st

Note: * new providers from the 1 April 2017, taking over from the previous provider SSP Limited
following an external procurement exercise.

2.1.2 Chair & Accountable Officer.
For the year 2016/17 the office of Chair of the CCG has been held by Dr Nadim
Fazlani and the Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) is Katherine Sheerin.
2.1.3 Composition of Governing Body
The membership of the Governing Body up to the signing of the Annual Report &
Accounts has been as follows:
Governing Body Members:
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Professor Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Tom Jackson
Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Jane Lunt
Professor Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Shamim Rose
Katherine Sheerin
Dr Maurice Smith
Co-opted Members (non-voting):
Sandra Davies
Cllr Paul Brant
Dr Paula Finnerty
Dr Tristin Elkin
Dr Jamie Hampson
Dr Rob Barnett
Tina Atkins

Chair
Lay Member Governance / Deputy Chair
GP / Clinical Vice Chair
Lay Member Patient Engagement
GP
Practice Nurse
GP
GP
Chief Finance Officer
GP
GP
Head of Quality / Chief Nurse
Secondary Care Doctor
GP
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)
GP

Director of Public Health, Liverpool City Council
Cabinet Member Health & Social Care,
Liverpool City Council Representative
GP North Locality
GP Central Locality (resigned 31/01/2017)
GP Matchworks Locality
Secretary, Liverpool LMC
Practice Manager

2.1.4 Committee(s), including Audit Committee
The CCG has in place the following committees:
•
•
•
•
•

Audit Risk & Scrutiny
Primary Care Commissioning
Quality Safety & Outcomes
Finance Procurement & Contracting
Healthy Liverpool Programme Board
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•
•
•

Human Resources
Remuneration
Approvals Panel

Further details of their role and membership can be found on pages 63 and 66.
The membership of the Audit Risk & Scrutiny Committee is as follows:
•
•
•
•

Professor Maureen Williams – Lay Member / Audit Committee Chair
Professor Donal O’Donaghue – Secondary Care Doctor
Dr Simon Bowers – GP
Dave Antrobus – Lay Member

In attendance:
•
•
•
•

Tom Jackson – Chief Finance Officer
Internal Audit Representative – Mersey Internal Audit Agency
Counter Fraud Representative - Mersey Internal Audit Agency
External Audit Representative – Grant Thornton UK LLP

2.1.5 Register of Interests
Conflicts of interest are inevitable in commissioning and it is how we manage them
that matters. The CCG complies with the revised statutory guidance published by
NHSE that includes a number of strengthened safeguards to mitigate the risk of real
and perceived conflicts of interest arising in CCGs. All formal Governing Body and
Committee meetings agendas commence with a ‘Declaration of Interest’ and the
Chair of the meeting will address any declarations made in accordance with the
formal Conflicts of Interest Policy and record any such matters and actions in the
formal minutes of the meeting.
A copy of the CCG Conflicts of Interest Register can be found on the CCG website
at http://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/media/1904/register-of-interest-new-format-2017sh-updated-150217.xlsx.
Similarly the register of Gifts & Hospitality can be found
at http://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/media/1905/lccg-hospitality-register-new-format2017.xlsx
and the Procurement Register
at http://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/media/1824/procurement-register-from-1st-april2016.xlsx .
2.1.6 Personal data related incidents
During 2016/17 there were no Serious Incidents (SI) relating to data security
breaches and no incidents in the CCG that were required to be reported to the
Information Commissioner.
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2.1.7 Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
•
so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their
audit report and
•
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.
In addition:
•
All Governing Body members have confirmed that they were not aware of any
fraud, nor had they been subject to any investigation or litigation.
2.1.8 Modern Slavery Act
Liverpool CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery
and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in The Modern Slavery Act
2015.

Katherine Sheerin

Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
30th May 2017.

2.2 Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed Katherine Sheerin to be the Accountable Officer of Liverpool CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under The National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:
•
•

•
•
•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of The National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
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in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of The National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

•

Under The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply
with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of
Health and in particular to:
•
•
•

•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health have been
followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial
statements; and,
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:
•

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information.

•

that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report
and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair,
balanced and understandable.

Katherine Sheerin
Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
30th May 2017.
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2.3 Governance Statement
2.3.1 Introduction and context
The Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by NHS
England on 1st April 2013 under The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)
and is licenced by NHS England without conditions.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory functions are set out under The
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is
arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service
in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain
health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable
requirements of its local population.
As at 31st March 2017, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any Directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of The National Health Service Act
2006.
2.3.2 Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
under The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical
commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.
2.3.3 Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
The CCG Constitution is constructed around the exemplar model constitution
provided by NHS England, with the Governing Body advised as to the need for any
specific amendments by our legal advisers Hill Dickinson LLP. The agreed
amendments made from the exemplar model primarily reflected the landscape of the
membership practices in the city and the committee structure adopted by the CCG.
The Constitution includes the ‘Scheme of Reservation and Delegation’ and outlines
those matters that are reserved for the membership as a whole and those that are
the responsibilities of the Governing Body and also deals with matters such as
‘whistle blowing’ and conflicts of interest.
The Committees of the Governing Body are as follows:
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Audit, Risk & Scrutiny – the Committee purpose is to review the establishment and
maintenance of an effective system of integrated governance, risk management and
internal control, across the whole of the CCG’s activities. It also ensures that there is
an effective internal audit function that meets the mandatory NHS Internal Audit
Standards and provides appropriate independent assurance. The Committee
reviews the work and findings of the external auditors and consider the implications
and management’s responses to their work. Other aspects of the Committee’s work
include ensuring that adequate counter fraud arrangements are in place and as
required review the outcomes of counter fraud work.
During the year the Committee has continued to play an important role in the continued
oversight and assurance of the CCG’s governance arrangements and internal
systems of control. This has included the setting and review of the annual internal
audit cycle, local counter fraud activities (including receipt of the Counter Fraud
Work Plan 2016/17) and the development of effective working relationships with the
appointed external auditors.
Throughout 2016/17 the Committee has overseen the CCG’s response(s) to a number
of Internal Audit Recommendations including (but not limited to) Safeguarding,
Quality of Services Commissioned, Personal Health Budgets, Data Quality,
Information Governance, Conflicts of Interest and the CCG’s Financial Control
Environment. The Committee has also been instrumental in the approval and
embedding of key organisational policies such as the revised arrangements to
comply with statutory guidance surrounding the management of conflicts of interest.
Remuneration – the Committee role is to make decisions and determinations about
pay and remuneration for Governing Body members, Senior Managers and the wider
senior management team (SMT). This remit includes setting pay levels, reviewing
conditions of service and allowances. During the year the Committee has considered
SMT salaries, conflicts of interest and Governing Body terms of engagement.
Human Resources – the Committee role is to determine and agree HR policies and
salary frameworks for employees (other than Senior Managers), monitor corporate
workforce organisational performance indicators and provide assurance to the
Governing Body that performance is managed. During the year the Committee has
reviewed and adopted a variety of key HR policies, supported the development of
staff side representation in the organisation and reviewed equality and diversity in
the workforce.
Finance, Procurement and Contracting– the Committee has a lead role in
monitoring the financial governance arrangements of the CCG. This includes
responsibility for assuring the delivery of the CCG’s statutory financial duties and
financial reporting arrangements on behalf of the Governing Body. The Committee
has oversight of the delivery of the CCG financial plan and provides assurance
regarding the procurement and contracting activities of the organisation.
During the year the Committee has overseen the development of the organisation’s
financial plans and reviewed monthly financial, contract and activity performance.
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Key areas of further work have included oversight of various procurement activities,
information governance compliance and scrutiny of investment proposals.
Healthy Liverpool Programme Board – the Board is accountable to the CCG
Governing Body and oversees the development of the overall Programme. During
2016/17 the Healthy Liverpool Programme Board has explored the emerging need to
transform services and delivery on a North Mersey footprint, demand management,
and the continued local emphasis upon delivery of the new model for community
services and hospital redesign. The Programme Board has ensured that each
proposal aligns with the strategic objectives and aims of the Healthy Liverpool
Programme and optimises public value for money and outcomes for patients. The
Board has received regular progress reports from the constituent elements of the
Programme, along with associated risk assessments.
Quality, Safety and Outcomes – the Committee is responsible for overseeing
quality and safety processes across all commissioned services, ensuring alignment
with delivery of the NHS Outcomes Framework and for assuring the Governing Body
that quality and patient safety activity is co-ordinated and transparent ensuring a
coherent and systematic review of the system.
During 2016/17 the Committee has made an important contribution to improving
patient safety and outcomes; including the continued oversight and management of
Serious Untoward Incidents (SUIs) and subsequent commissioner led assurance of
learning from incidents by providers through the overview and scrutiny of remedial
action plans. The Committee has also continued to play a key role in the prevention
of, and learning from Healthcare Acquired Infections. Providers have also been held
to account where Regulatory Inspection has found issues of concern or failure to
meet expected quality and/or safety standards. The Committee has also reviewed
safeguarding, quality impact assessments, provider risk profiles and equality
matters.
Primary Care Commissioning Committee –From February 2015 the ‘new’ Primary
Care Commissioning Committee was instituted following NHS England’s approval of
the CCG’s revised Constitution and the successful application to assume delegated
responsibility from NHS England for the commissioning of primary medical services.
During 2016/17 the Committee has continued to oversee the CCG commissioning
responsibility for the 92 GP Practices in the city. Key areas to note have included
regular scrutiny of performance reports, concerns as to the delivery of the national
primary care support service and prescribing performance and effectiveness. The
Committee has also continued to review the reports from the continuation of the
Care Quality Commission inspection regime of GP Practices and where appropriate
intervene and support Practices to improve.
Approvals Committee – the Committee is responsible for ensuring that the CCG
applies conflicts of interest principles and policies rigorously and provides the CCG
with independent advice and judgement where there is any doubt about how to apply
them to individual or group cases involving the commissioning or other procurement
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of clinical services. During 2016/17 there has not been a need for the Committee to
meet.
Healthy Liverpool Programme Committee(s) in Common – the Committee
originally brought together representatives from the three CCGs (Liverpool, Knowsley
and South Sefton) along with their local authorities and NHSE Specialised
Commissioning to provide oversight of the development of the ‘Hospitals Programme’
element within Healthy Liverpool, reflecting the significant co- dependencies between
the three communities and specialised commissioning. During the year the
Committee membership was expanded to include colleagues from Southport &
Formby CCG, as the remit extended to consider matters pertaining to Southport &
Ormskirk NHS Trust.
During 2016/17 the Committee has continued a focus upon the strategic nature of
the hospitals programme and the interrelationships and similarities with similar
activities in Knowsley and Sefton i.e. North Mersey and the development of
specialised services. Specific agenda items have included the reconfiguration of
women’s and neonatal services, orthopaedics and cardiovascular redesign.
The Governing Body - has performed well throughout the year, providing clear
strategic leadership and accountability for the organisation’s business and activities.
It has clear governance arrangements in place, with oversight from the Chair and the
Audit & Scrutiny Committee. Members of the Governing Body have continued to
make significant and valuable contributions to the work of numerous collaborative
commissioning forums, the Health and Wellbeing Board, Joint Commissioning Group
and Safeguarding Board. Further attention has been paid during the year to external
relationships and engagement, with Governing Body members leading partner and
stakeholder engagement through the North Mersey Local Delivery System and
Healthy Liverpool Programme in particular, alongside direct engagement with Trust
Chief Executives, Chairs, Councillors and local MPs.
The role of the Governing Body continues to develop and members have been
afforded a variety of internal and external opportunities during the year to expand
and develop their personal and collective knowledge and skills, alongside
opportunities to share learning from Liverpool with regional and national colleagues.
The ongoing monthly ‘informal’ development sessions have provided an important
opportunity for greater discussion and debate on matters of policy and strategy,
directly informing and shaping the formal business of the organisation. Such
opportunities, particularly for shared learning play an important role in supporting the
ongoing development of the organisation and its Governing Body, underpinned by an
Organisational Development Plan.
At the same time the CCG has continued to engage and involve members with a
programme of city wide and locality based events, supported by the Locality Chairs
and neighbourhood structures maintaining and building bridges between the
Governing Body members and our membership of practices.
The Governing Body and Committee meetings have overall been well attended and
supported throughout the year, illustrated in the following table:
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Governing
Body

Member

Dr Nadim Fazlani
Katherine Sheerin
Prof Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Tom Jackson
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde
Jane Lunt
Dr Shamim Rose
Dr Maurice Smith
Dr Donal O’Donoghue
Dr Rosie Kaur

13/13
13/13
12/13
9/13
12/13
11/13
13/13
12/13
11/13
11/13
9/13
12/13
6/13
12/13
10/13
10/13

Audit,
Risk &
Scrutiny

–
5/5
3/5
5/5
–
–
3/5
–
–
–
–
–
–
0/5
–

HR

–
3/3
3/3
–
3/3
–
3/3
–
–
–
–
–
2/3
2/3
–
–

Healthy
Finance,
Approvals
Liverpool
Remuneration
Procurement
Panel
Programme
& Contracting
Board

–
3/3
3/3
–
3/3
–
2/3
–
–
–
–
–
1/3
2/3
–
–

–
0/0
–
0/0
–
–
0/0
–
–
–
0/0
–
–
0/0
–

12/12
10/12
12/12
–
12/12
–
–
11/12
–
–
–
–
–
11/12
–
–

2/10
8/10
–
2/10
10/10
5/10
5/10
4/10
–
–
4/10
9/10
–
–

QualitySafety
& Outcomes

Primary Care
Commissioning

Healthy
Liverpool
Programme
Committee in
Common

–
9/10
–
–
9/10
–
–
–
8/10
2/10
–
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–
4/7
–
–
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–
–
–
–
–
4/5
4/5
–
–
–
–
–
0/5
–

Note: During the year Dr Shamin Rose experienced a period of absence from the Governing Body
and during this time her role on the Governing Body was covered by Dr Tristan Elkin.

The Governing Body and Committees have together led and overseen:
•

The continuing discharge of delegated commissioning responsibility for
primary care medical services covering 92 GP Practices in the city.

•

The development and adoption of key policies covering such areas as conflicts
of interest, social media and various employment policies e.g. secondment.

•

The phased implementation of the new neighbourhood structures and delivery
of the redesigned community services model

•

Pre-consultation engagement for the future of women's and neonatal services
in Liverpool

•

Re-procurement of 13 APMS primary care contracts with a combined value of
£5.8M

•

The development and oversight of a financial strategy and financial recovery
plan through to 2019/20.

•

The completion and agreement of two year provider contracts for 2017/18 and
2018/19, including the innovative and unique ‘acting as one’ agreement across
the city’s main providers, with a combined value of £834.8M over two years.

•

A commitment to further joint working across the three CCGs of Liverpool.
Sefton and Southport & Formby.
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2.3.4 UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However,
we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best
practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code
we consider to be relevant to the clinical commissioning group and best practice.

2.3.5 Discharge of Statutory Functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning
group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and
regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear
about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for
which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a senior manager
or Governing Body member. Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide
the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s statutory duties.
2.3.6 Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the
system of internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group.
2.3.7 Capacity to Handle Risk
The risk management process is led by the Chief Operating Officer who provides
professional leadership and oversight of both the overall process and its application
throughout the organisation. Underpinned by a Risk Management Strategy and access
to best practice and guidance, staff in lead roles across the CCG are appropriately
trained and supported to ensure that the risk management approach is embedded at
all levels in the CCG.
Throughout the year use is made of internal and external opportunities, to share and
learn from best practice, including the opportunities for shared learning from both our
internal auditors and also legal advisers who both regularly provide professional
seminars and share good practice guidance.
Risks as already described are assessed and managed in accordance with the Risk
Management Strategy approved by the Governing Body. The effective management
of risk is the responsibility of all members of staff and Governing Body members,
who all play a role in ensuring that risks are managed and mitigated in an effective
and sustainable manner. Strategic and significant operational risks are reported to
the Governing Body via the Corporate Risk Register / Assurance Framework and are
subject to regular review, reassessment and profiling.
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2.3.8 Risk Assessment
The management and assessment of risks is governed by the CCG Risk
Management Strategy which outlines how risks are identified, assessed against
impact and likelihood and managed through either the Directorate or programme
registers or the Corporate Risk Register.
A five stage process that can be illustrated as follows is in operation:

Step 1 – Identify Risks

Step 2 – Analyse Risks
Step 5 – Monitor
and Review
Step 3 – Evaluate Risks

Step 4 – Treat Risks

The risk assessment undertaken will reflect both the likelihood and any
consequences of the risk and its potential to:
•

Cause death, injury or ill health to individuals or groups;

•

Result in civil claims / litigation against the CCG, a Governing Body Member,
or member of staff;

•

Result in enforcement action to the CCG;

•

Cause damage to the environment;

•

Cause property damage / loss;

•

Impact on the day to day operational issues of the CCG;

•

Result in reputational damage for the CCG;

The level of risk is assessed using the CCG’s five by five risk matrix by judging the
likelihood of the residual risk occurring and consequences for the CCG should the
event occur. This assessment results in an overall score ranging from 1 to 25 and a
risk level of low, moderate, high or extreme.
The major potential risks to governance, risk management and internal control can
be summarised as follows:
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Governance:
•

Conflicts of interest and members of the Governing Body – in light of the
revised statutory guidance issued by NHSE England, the CCG policy and
procedures have been updated, alongside the register of interests published
on the CCG website. The Approvals Committee remains established and
prepared to intervene if required to oversee and decide upon the allocation of
resources and/or commissioning decisions where monies are to be invested
or benefits derived in general practice. Similarly use during the year has been
made of a ‘part two’ meeting of the Finance, Procurement and Contracting
Committee, where members from General Practice have been excluded when
considering matters of procurement such as APMS. The Committee can be
quorate without GP or primary care practice Governing Body members from
LCCG thereby providing strengthened governance surrounding matters
affecting or impacting upon practice income.

Risk Management:
•

During the year a number of ‘new’ risks have been added to the Corporate
Risk Register reflective of the continued emphasis upon strong and effective
governance arrangements. These risks have included performance and
service delivery issues at a number of Trusts with regards to the delivery of
NHS Constitution Standards; the ‘negative’ outcome of several Care Quality
Commission provider inspections; and the future provision of community health
services. All of these risks can be explored in detail by examination of the
CCG Board papers, available on the CCG website, where details of the
original risk, an assessment of the consequences and likelihood of the impact
of the risk and the required mitigation and actions taken by the CCG can be
found.
None of these risks are a significant risk to the risk management process
itself.
Although our appetite for risk (i.e. the amount of risk the CCG is prepared to
accept) is dynamic and an iterative process reflective of a changing
environment, the CCG will not, under any circumstances accept any risk
which would potentially/actually result in non-compliance with legislation,
statutory responsibilities, cause significant financial loss or would compromise
patient/staff safety. As a public body, there is naturally a low tolerance
threshold for any risks which are of this nature.
The CCG has a clear and documented process for the escalation of risks onto
the Corporate Risk Register, with immediate inclusion of any which are a
threat to the delivery of our strategic (or high level operational) objectives. The
most prevalent risks for Liverpool CCG during 2016/17 are summarised below:
 Aintree Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust and the Royal Liverpool &
Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust non-achievement of the
national 4 hour A&E target at year-end;
 Service pressures across North Mersey in 2016/17 will exceed whole
system capacity to deliver healthcare services;
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 Risks to the safe and effective delivery of health services by Liverpool
Community Health NHS Trust (LCH);
 Failure to achieve successful transaction of LCH services and secure
new community health provision arrangements by the agreed deadline
of 1st April 2017;
 Failure to deliver the Transformational Programme (Healthy Liverpool);
 Insufficient total bed capacity within nursing home sector impacted by
poor quality of care and potential further closures;
 Liverpool CCG non-achievement of 2016/17 national target for Early
Intervention in Psychosis.
All of the above were considered as significant risks to CCG strategic or high
level operational objectives and carried an individual residual score within the
range of 15 and 25, placing them in the ‘Extreme’ category (red). This category
of risk requires immediate corrective action, continued oversight and assurance
on control measures actions to (and by) the Governing Body.
In all cases risks have been presented to the Governing Body meeting in
public session(s) and a variety of mitigating actions and steps are being taken
in response to the risks that will continue unresolved in part or whole into
2017/18. The impact and consequences of the risks are subject to ongoing
scrutiny and attention as the CCG seeks to agree and implement acceptable
and sustainable solutions going forward.
Internal Control:
•

As a consequence of a parliamentary question on the 22nd March 2017,
NHSE have commenced a review into the governance arrangements in the
CCG with regards to the remuneration of Governing Body members. This
review has yet to be concluded.

Compliance with CCG operating licence:
•

No significant risks to the CCG maintaining compliance with the terms of its
operating licence were identified in 2016/17.

2.3.9 Other sources of assurance
2.3.9.1 Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.
It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically.
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The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors and the senior managers and clinical leads within the
clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the
external auditors in their management letter and other reports.
The Corporate Risk Register/Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with
evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the clinical
commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit
Committee and the Quality, Safety & Outcomes Committee, if appropriate and a plan
to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in
place.
During the year the Governing Body and Audit Committee have kept under regular
review the application of the system of internal control. With the support of Internal
Audit where areas for improvement have been identified, appropriate actions have
been taken and changes made to ensure that the systems in place remain robust
and effective. The formal process of a quarterly assurance review of the CCG by
NHS England Cheshire & Merseyside has also provided a further external insight
and commentary as to the performance of the CCG.
Overall the system of internal control has been found to be effective and has met the
needs of the organisation. However as already identified there have been some
areas where issues and gaps in control have been identified and specific prompt
action has been taken to address these gaps in an effective and sustainable manner.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.
Overall the CCG is vigilant to the potential risks to the CCG operating licence and
maintains a system of strong internal control and risk management. However no
organisation can be complacent and the CCG recognises this and has taken steps
during the year in a number of key areas to ensure that compliance with the operating
licence is maintained and protected:
•

Effective governance arrangements – as highlighted above the CCG keeps
under constant review the governance structures and committees that support
the Governing Body in the discharge of its role and responsibilities;

•

Performance information – during the year the corporate performance report
which is presented formally on a monthly basis to the Governing Body has
been subject to regular review, refinement and further strengthening so as to
fully meet the needs and requirements of the Governing Body and provide
them with assurance as to compliance with the CCG’s licence and statutory
duties.
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2.3.9.2 Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs
(published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts
of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England
published a template audit framework. The required audit exercise was conducted
by MIAA, who found that of the 26 key elements within the audit framework MIAA
found that 22 were fully complaint and 4 where the CCG was found to have partial
compliance. The areas of partial compliance and subsequent management actions
to achieve full compliance can be summarised as follows:
•

Staff Training: whilst internal training is offered as part of the induction exercise
in the CCG, the extension of training to practice staff is dependent upon the
release by NHSE of the proposed national training package. Once the latter
package is made available this training will be rolled out to practice staff.

•

Declaration of interests, gifts or hospitality within 28 days: staff and office
holders have been reminded of the importance of ensuring that all
declarations are made within no more than 28 days of them becoming aware
of it.

•

Register of gifts and hospitality: the register has been amended to show the
details of the officer reviewing / approving the declarations made and the date
of that action.

•

Register of procurement decisions: the register has been amended and a
process put into place to ensure that the outcome of procurement decisions is
entered into the register in a prompt manner.

2.3.9.3 Data Quality
During the year the Governing Body has on occasion expressed some concerns as
to the quality of data provided to them, including in some cases by individual provider
trusts. Immediate steps were taken to hold the providers of the data to account for
the delivery of quality information and data through the contracting process. Similarly
action was taken against individual providers whose data was not of an acceptable
standard. The sustained provision of a significant and strengthened analytical
resource internally within the CCG has assisted greatly in ensuring that the
Governing Body has access to data of the highest quality and, subject to reporting
limitations, in a timely fashion.
2.3.9.4 Information Governance ( including data security)
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively. The CCG achieved Level 3 (98%) compliance against the IG Toolkit
requirements with no significant or unsatisfactory issues to highlight, a position
strongly supported by ‘significant assurance’ from our Internal Auditors.
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We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.
We have established an information governance management framework and
developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the
information governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual
information governance training and have briefed staff to ensure they are aware of
their information governance roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and the investigation of serious
incidents. Information risk assessment and management procedures are in place
and we continue to strive towards fully embedding a risk culture throughout the
organisation against identified risks.
2.3.9.5 Business Critical Models
The CCG maintains a strong relationship with NHS Digital through the establishment
of robust systems, processes, and data sharing agreements, demonstrating
confidence in the CCG to manage personal identifiable information (PID) safely and
securely where there is a legal basis to do so. The CCG is compliant with IG Toolkit
Level 3. All of the CCGs Business critical models have been identified and noted on
the CCG Information Asset Register.
2.3.9.6 Third party assurances
The CCG seeks assurances from our providers of external support (as outlined in
section 4.3.12) through a variety of means to provide assurance to the senior
management team and Governing Body. Typically each area with the exception of
the Capita primary care support services, which is the responsibility of NHSE, has a
lead officer who maintains a client relationship with the service provider. Those
relations extend to regular contact and meetings with the providers, participation in
client satisfaction ratings and where required intervention where performance falls
below a satisfactotry level. As appropriate, external standards and service delivery
levels are monitored and by exception any assurance failings brought to the
immediate attention of the CCG.
During 2016/17 the Governing Body raised formally with NHSE significant concerns
regarding the poor performance of the provision of primary care support services by
the NHSE contractor Capita. Both soft and hard intelligence from member practices
and the Local Medical Committee was used to inform the Governing Body’s decision
to escalate these concerns to NHSE. A response to the Governing Body concerns
was subsequently received from Karen Wheeler, National Director: Transformation
and Corporate Operations, NHSE and the CCG continues to closely monitor the
quality of the service provided to practices across the city.
2.3.10 Control Issues
There are no significant control issues facing the CCG.
2.3.11 Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
As part of the NHSE assurance process for CCGs, we are assessed at to the quality
of leadership in the organisation. The most recently published available data for
Quarter 2 2016/17 shows that the CCG is rated ‘Green’ for quality of CCG leadership
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by NHSE. The final year end assessment from NHSE is not available in time for the
publication of this Annual Report and will be available from July 2017
at www.nhs.uk/service-search/scorecard/results/1175.
The Governing Body informed by its committees and in particular the Finance,
Contracts and Procurement Committee, oversees and directs the use of the CCG
resources. In doing so Governing Body members benefit from the experience and
skills of a strong and competent senior management team, who work within a strong
framework of performance management, benchmarking and comparative
assessment. Programmes of work and service redesign and transformational
programmes are all clinically led by Governing Body members who are supported by
project leads and a project management infrastructure.
All significant investment decisions are subject to a rigorous assessment and
prioritisation process that is applied in such a way as to determine the relative
effectiveness of the proposal, including the impact upon key strategic outcomes and
objectives. Use is also made of data and support from our public health colleagues in
the local authority. Where available, use is particularly made of comparative data,
including that from the ‘Core Cities’ to ensure a rigour behind all decisions. Support
is also provided by our internal auditors from the Mersey Internal Audit Agency who
provide an important source of objective advice, assessment and oversight.
2.3.12 Delegation of functions
During 2016/17 the CCG had delegated arrangements in place with providers external
to the CCG for the following:
•

St Helens and Knowsley NHS Trust: Payroll processing

•

Shared Business Services: Financial Systems – Transactional Processing

•

Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit: elements of Business
Intelligence (including data processing); Continuing Healthcare (CHC), Funded
Nursing Care and individual complex packages of care; Emergency Planning
support; urgent care system reporting; Individual Funding Requests (IFR);
strategic engagement advice and support; and some aspects of Continuing
Healthcare processes.

•

Capita: provision of support services to primary care practitioners (including
General Practice)

During the year risks associated with these activities have been monitored through
the development of close partnership working; participation at local user groups and
regular monitoring including periodic evaluation of key performance indicators. Any
identified risks have been monitored through the CCG’s governance and risk
management processes.
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2.3.13 Counter fraud arrangements
The CCG commissions from the MIAA Anti-Fraud Service an appropriate level of
accredited counter fraud specialist (CFS) time, in compliance with the NHS Protect
Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption. The executive lead
role sits with the Chief Finance Officer a member of the Governing Body. The CFS
attends the regular meetings of the Audit, Risk & Scrutiny Committee, providing
formal updates against an agreed annual programme of activities. Those activities
include: strategic governance work e.g. a proactive exercise re conflicts of interest;
prevent and deter work e.g. National Fraud Initiative 2016, regular updates; and the
sharing of intelligence and fraud awareness training. If subsequently required the
CFS would also undertake investigatory work. In 2016/17 one ‘whistleblowing’
incident concerning a hospital provider was reported and the investigation into this
matter is ongoing at the time of completing this report.
2.3.14 Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of
Internal Audit Mr Tim Crowley, Director of Audit, Mersey Internal Audit Agency
concluded that:
Significant Assurance, can be given that that there is a generally sound system
of internal control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that
controls are generally being applied consistently.

This opinion is provided in the context that the Clinical Commissioning Group like other
organisations across the NHS is facing some challenging issues in respect of financial
performance. The Clinical Commissioning Group’s financial plan has been rated as Amber by
NHS England and the Clinical Commissioning Group has been recently required to produce a
Recovery Plan by NHS England to improve its the financial position. Regular updates on
financial performance are provided at Governing Body meetings.
Senior management within the Clinical Commissioning Group has remained stable during
2016/17. NHS England has rated the quality of leadership at the Clinical Commissioning
Group as Green. During the year there have been significant changes within the Finance
Team, including the appointments of a new Deputy Chief Finance Officer and new Financial
Accountant.
Operationally the Clinical Commissioning Group has continued to regularly report providers’
performance against a range of targets. The Clinical Commissioning Group’s primary provider
Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust has consistently met the cancer
targets, but has struggled to maintain required performance levels for referral to treatment
and A&E waiting times. Primary Care performance is also regularly reported. The

Page 77

Clinical Commissioning Group needs to continue to work with providers to ensure required
performance improvements are achieved.
NHS Liverpool CCG is a member of Cheshire & Merseyside STP and is part of the North
Mersey Local Delivery System (LDS). A set of priorities has been identified for the LDS that
align to the CCG’s own strategic plans, known as Healthy Liverpool. NHS Liverpool CCG is
working with other partners within the LDS, including NHS Southport & Formby CCG and
NHS South Sefton CCG, whose transformational programmes are closely aligned.
In providing this opinion I can confirm continued compliance with the definition of internal
audit (as set out in your Internal Audit Charter), code of ethics and professional standards. I
also confirm organisational independence of the audit activity and that this has been free
from interference in respect of scoping, delivery and reporting.

Tim Crowley

Director of Audit, MIAA
March 2017

2.3.15 Emergency preparedness, resilience and response
The CCG has in place a suitably experienced and competent designated Senior
Manager lead for emergency preparedness, resilience and response and has played
a full and active role in the Merseyside Local Health Resilience Partnership and the
associated ‘operational’ Health Resilience Group. The CCG commissions from the
Commissioning Support Services Unit access to a professionally qualified and
experienced emergency planner who provides access to any required additional
support and advice to the CCG, supplementing the in-house resources.
The CCG response plan has been subject to review during the year and is kept up to
date and reflects national best practice and policy guidance. Key staff have
participated in a variety of planning and response exercises during the year. Plans
from all of the major providers from whom the CCG commissions services have in
addition been subject to audit and review during the year and where required actions
plans put into place to ensure full compliance with the national EPRR standards and
requirement.
As well as supporting day to day system resilience across the city during the year
Liverpool continued to play host to a series of national and international cultural and
sporting events. Chief amongst these during 2016/17 were the Rock ‘n’ Roll
Marathon, Liverpool International Music Festival, International Mersey River Festival,
Cunard 100 Celebration and Fusion Festival. In all cases the CCG took a key role in
planning and coordinating the health response and preparedness for the events.
Working with health partners and in particular North West Ambulance Service
(NWAS), comprehensive plans for the events were developed, and subsequently
tested and exercised, as required. The events passed off without any major incident
or adverse impact upon health services in the city and the lessons learnt will be used
to inform subsequent major event planning into 2017/18.
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In his letter of the 18th January 2017 the Director of Assurance Delivery for NHSE
Cheshire & Merseyside confirmed the CCGs “substantial compliance” against the
nationally mandated EPRR core standards.
2.3.15.1 Accountable Officer EPRR Self-certification:
I certify that NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group has incident response
plans in place, which are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board
Emergency Preparedness Framework. The clinical commissioning group regularly
reviews and makes improvements to its major incident plan and has a programme
for regularly testing this plan, the results of which are reported to the Governing
Body.
2.3.16 Principles of remedy
The CCG complies fully with the ‘Principles for Remedy’ as published by the
Parliamentary and Health Services Ombudsman. Such remedies are part of the
CCG complaints handling procedures and would be applied as and when required in
the handling of complaints made to the organisation.
During the year the Parliamentary and Health Services Ombudsman made no awards
against the CCG.
2.3.17 External Audit
The CCG is externally audited by Grant Thornton LLP, for 2016/17 the total external
audit fees were £85,500
• Audit services £85,500 including VAT
• Further assistance services £0
• Other services £0
2.3.18 Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and
internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors and the Senior Managers and clinical leads within the
clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the
external auditors in their management letter and other reports.
The Corporate Risk Register/Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with
evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the clinical
commissioning group achieving its principles objectives have been reviewed.
In November 2016 the CCG commissioned Price Waterhouse Coopers LLP (PWC)
to carry out a review of the financial challenge, capacity and capability at the CCG.
This review focused on three areas: the financial challenge and response in 2017/18
and the impact on the 2018/19 forward plans, including QIPP plans; governance and
reporting arrangements; and capacity and capability of the clinical leadership of the
organisation. A draft report was received by the Governing Body in January 2017,
followed by a final report in March. This review led by PWC and their
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subsequent report has further contributed to and informed my assessment of the
organisation and the system of internal control.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit
Committee and the Quality, Safety & Outcomes Committee, if appropriate and a plan
to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in
place.
During the year the Governing Body and Audit Committee have kept under regular
review the application of the system of internal control. With the support of Internal
Audit where areas for improvement have been identified, appropriate actions have
been taken and changes made to ensure that the systems in place remain robust
and effective. The formal process of a quarterly IAF assurance review of the CCG by
the NHS England Cheshire & Merseyside has also provided a further external insight
and commentary as to the performance of the CCG.
Overall the system of internal control has been found to be effective and has met the
needs of the organisation. However as already identified there have been some
areas where issues and gaps in control have been identified and specific prompt
action has been taken to address these gaps in an effective and sustainable manner.
The following three internal audits conducted in 2016/17 resulted in a rating of
‘Limited Assurance’ and require corrective action to strengthen current controls. A
summary of the individual report findings and remedial actions is provided below:
•

Personal Health Budgets (PHBs) Review: The review of the CCG’s
Personal Health Budgets management arrangements identified a number of
improvements required in relation to current control systems. These were in
relation to the formalisation and agreement of policies and procedures with
the Commissioning Support Unit (CSU), monitoring and review mechanisms
(such as ‘annual reviews) of individual patients. In determining the remedial
actions necessary it was acknowledged that although there were small
numbers of PHBs in place, these were often the most complex patients. CHC
policies are currently being updated to accurately reflect the key
responsibilities of the CCG and CSU. The CCG’s Finance Team is also
reviewing its budget coding and reporting systems to allow clear, accurate and
timely reporting of information.

•

Healthy Liverpool Review: Limited assurance was given as there were some
weaknesses identified in controls and risks relating to the programme
structure within the North Mersey Local Delivery System (specifically in terms
of effective decision making and monitoring processes). In response to the
report’s recommendations, a programme governance structure for the Local
Delivery System plan is being developed. Further remedial actions include
the close monitoring of compliance against Project Management Standards
and the implementation of a revised ‘issues management and reporting
process’ with oversight by the Healthy Liverpool Programme Board.

•

Patient Experience Framework: Whilst the audit found good evidence that
Liverpool CCG used patient experience data in the engagement plan template
and ‘triangulated’ it with quality intelligence (for example, monthly
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provider ‘deep dives’, a rating of ‘Limited Assurance’ was due to some
weaknesses identified in ensuring the appropriate visibility of patient experience
data amongst other committee agenda items. A ‘medium’ risk relating to
the lack of visible evidence to show how the CCG has ‘acted’ upon information
to support the commissioning of high quality care was also captured. As a
result, several remedial actions have been agreed which include (but not limited
to) the systematic and routine reporting of the Engagement and Patient
Experience Advisory Group to the CCG Quality, Safety and Outcomes
Committee (QSOC). The CCG’s Stakeholder Engagement Strategy and
Complaints, Concerns and Compliments Policy have also been reviewed
with the aim of strengthening governance arrangements and providing clarity
on organisational roles and responsibilities.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the Clinical
Commissioning Group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control.
Overall the CCG is vigilant to the potential risks to the CCG operating licence and
maintains a system of strong internal control and risk management. However no
organisation can be complacent and the CCG recognises this and has taken steps
during the year in a number of key areas to ensure that compliance with the operating
licence is maintained and protected.
Effective governance arrangements – as highlighted above the CCG keeps under
constant review the governance structures and committees that support the
Governing body in the discharge of its role and responsibilities
Performance information – during the year the corporate performance report which is
presented formally on a monthly basis to the Governing Body has been subject to
regular review, refinement and further strengthening so as to fully meet the needs
and requirements of the Governing Body and provide them with assurance as to
compliance with the CCG’s licence and statutory duties.
2.3.19 Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified other than those risks
highlighted above which have been identified in the main body of the Governance
Statement above.

Katherine Sheerin
Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer NHS Liverpool CCG
30th May 2017
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2.4 Remuneration and Staff Report
Note: Sections marked with * are auditable elements of the Remuneration Report

2.4.1 Introduction.
Section 234B and Schedule 7A of The Companies Act, as interpreted for the public
sector in the Government Financial Reporting Manual, requires NHS bodies to prepare
a Remuneration Report containing information about directors’ remuneration.
In the NHS, the report will be in respect of the Senior Managers of the NHS body.
‘Senior Managers’ are defined as: ‘those persons in senior positions having authority
or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the NHS body. This
means those who influence the decisions of the clinical commissioning group as a
whole, rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ For the
purposes of this report, this includes the CCG’s Governing Body members.

Remuneration Report
2.4.2 Remuneration Committee
The Committee role is to make decisions and determinations about pay and
remuneration for Governing Body members, senior managers and the wider senior
management team. This remit includes setting pay levels, reviewing conditions of
service and allowances. During the year the Committee has considered senior
management team salaries, conflicts of interest and Governing Body terms of
engagement.
Membership of the Committee can be found on page 66.
2.4.3 Appraisal of Chair, Governing Body members and Chief Officer.
The CCG has in place a robust procedure for assessing the performance and delivery
of the Chair, Chief Officer and Governing Body members. The CCG operates a
‘mutual’ appraisal arrangement between the Chair, Deputy Chair/Chair of Audit
Committee and Chief Officer. The Chair appraises the performance and delivery of
the Chief Officer, the Chief Officer then appraises the Deputy Chair/Chair of Audit
Committee and the Deputy Chair appraises the Chair. Governing Body members
are subject to appraisal by the Chair. Objectives are set for each person alongside
agreement as to any developmental needs, with full records of the appraisal meetings
made and retained.
2.4.4 Governing Body Members.
The dates of contracts and unexpired terms of office for the Governing Body members
are shown in the table below.
Name

Appointment Start Date

Dr Nadim Fazlani

Re-appointed 1 June 2015

Professor Maureen Williams

1 October 2012

st

st
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Appointment End Date
st

31 May 2018
st

31 March 2017

st

Dr Simon Bowers

Re-appointed 1 June 2015

Dave Antrobus

Re-appointed
2015

Dr Janet Bliss

Re-appointed 1 June 2015

Moira Cain

Re-appointed 1 June 2015

Tom Jackson

6 July 2012

Dr Rosie Kaur

1 June 2014

Dr Fiona Lemmens

Re-appointed 1 June 2014

Jane Lunt

11 November 2012

Professor Donal O’Donoghue

Re-appointed
2015

Dr Shamin Rose

Re-appointed 1 June 2015

Katherine Sheerin

2 July 2012

Dr Maurice Smith

Re-appointed 1 June 2014

Dr Fiona Ogden-Forde

12 May 2015

Dr Monica Khuraijan

12 May 2015

st

1

October

st

31 May 2018
31st October 2018

st

31 May 2018

st

st

31 May 2018

st

th

N/A Permanent contract of
employment

st

31 May 2017

st

st

th

st

1

st

31 May 2017
N/A Permanent contract of
employment

October

st

nd

st

31 October 2018
st

31 May 2018
N/A Permanent contract of
employment

st

st

31 May 2017

th

11 May 2018

th

th

11 May 2018

th

2.4.5 Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
Senior Managers (Officers) hold permanent contracts of employment and are subject
to six months’ notice. Governing Body members, excluding the Accountable Officer,
Chief Finance Officer and Chief Nurse, are Office Holders and have various lengths
of tenure as highlighted in the table above.
Amendments to salary are determined by the Remuneration Committee. When
required the Remuneration Committee can access professional advice from the
CCG’s HR team and also the CCG legal advisers, Hill Dickinson LLP. In setting
policy for current and future years, the Committee has access to guidance, best
practice and benchmarking information from comparative CCGs, such as those in
the ‘core cities’ group.
Senior Manager performance is monitored through the formal appraisal process,
based on organisational and individual objectives.
Senior managers are not subject to an element of performance related pay as part of
their remuneration packages.
2.4.6 Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
CCG senior managers with salaries in excess of £142,500 remuneration have been
determined by the Remuneration Committee. In reaching this decision the
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Committee has taken into account comparisons made to the salaries of similar posts
in other CCGs across England, in local NHS providers and in the NHSE ‘regional’
teams to determine that these salaries are reasonable.
Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) *
The following table provides details of senior managers remuneration:
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Salaries & Allowances

Name

Katherine Sheerin
Tom Jackson
Jane Lunt
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Prof Maureen Williams
Dr Simon Bowers
Dave Antrobus
Dr Janet Bliss
Moira Cain
Dr Fiona Lemmens
Dr Donal O'Donoghue
Dr Shamim Rose
Dr Maurice Smith
Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Fiona Ogden Forde
Dr Monica Khuraijam

Title

Governing Body Member - Chief Officer
Governing Body Member - Chief Finance Officer
Governing Body Member - Chief Nurse
Governing Body Member - Chair
Governing Body Member - Deputy Chair/Lay
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - Lay
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - Practice Nurse
Governing Body Member - GP
c) Governing Body Member - Hospital Doctor
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP
Governing Body Member - GP

Salary

Expense payments
(taxable)

Performance pay and
bonuses

Long term performance
pay and bonuses

All pension related benefits

(bands of £5,000)

(to nearest £100)

(bands of £5,000)

(bands of £5,000)

(bands of £2,500)

Notes

a) & 3, 5
a) & 3, 6
a) & 3, 5, 6
b)
b)
b) & 4, 5
b)
b) & 4, 5
b)
b) & 4, 5
c)
b) & 4, 5
b) & 4, 5
b) & 4, 5
b) & 1, 2, 4, 5
b) & 1, 4, 5

TOTAL

2016/17
£'000

2015/16
£'000

2016/17
£'00

2015/16
£'00

2016/17
£'000

2015/16
£'000

2016/17
£'000

2015/16
£'000

2016/17
£'000

2015/16
£'000

2016/17
£'000

2015/16
£'000

155 - 160
145 - 150
115 - 120
150 - 155
100 - 105
80 - 85
50 - 55
80 - 85
65 - 70
80 - 85
95 - 100
80 - 85
80 - 85
80 - 85
50 - 55
80 - 85

155 - 160
145 - 150
115 - 120
150 - 155
100 - 105
80 - 85
50 - 55
80 - 85
65 - 70
80 - 85
90 - 95
80 - 85
80 - 85
80 - 85
55 - 60
60 - 65

1
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

65 - 67.5
62.5 - 65
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

37.5 - 40
27.5 - 30
112.5 - 115
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

225 - 230
210 - 215
85 - 90
150 - 155
100 - 105
80 - 85
50 - 55
80 - 85
65 - 70
80 - 85
95 - 100
80 - 85
80 - 85
80 - 85
50 - 55
80 - 85

195 - 200
175 - 180
230 - 235
150 - 155
100 - 105
80 - 85
50 - 55
80 - 85
65 - 70
80 - 85
90 - 95
80 - 85
80 - 85
80 - 85
55 - 60
60 - 65

Notes
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a) The Chief Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Chief Nurse are engaged under contracts of services and are employees.
b) Governing body members (both medical / non-medical ) practitioners are classified as 'Office Holders' in accordance with HMRC and legal advice. This means that they hold a ‘statutory office’ with the organisation, but do not have a contract 'of' service or contract 'for' service with the CCG. The CCG has determined
that with regards to remuneration report requirements for medical practitioners who are governing Body members that, in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual guidance (and given the practical arrangements in place with regards to tax, national insurance and pension arrangements) that the 'contract for service'
methodology is the most appropriate representation of remuneration for the financial year. Gross payment to the individual is therefore disclosed in the salary column including employer pension contributions (where applicable) as per the NHS Group Accounting Manual.
c) Donal O'Donoghue is a Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust employee and the CCG is recharged by his employer.
Part Year Effects are as follows

1. 2015/16 figures are part year effect - Dr Fiona Ogden Forde from 12th May 2015, Dr Monica Khuraijan from 12th May 2015
2. Dr Fiona Ogden Forde Salary adjusted 2016/17 due to temporary leave during January to March 2017
Prior Year Comparators have been adjusted for

3. Pension related benefits for Executive Directors to reflect contributions made by the individual to determine accrued pension benefits as per the Group Accounting Manual guidance
4. Gross payment to the individual disclosed in the salary column (including employer pension contributions, where relevant as per Group Accounting Manual ' Contract for Service' methodology)

5. Total Salaries & Allowances (including Pension Related Benefits have been adjusted for 3 & 4 above as applicable)
6. As per Group Accounting Manual Guidance, negative figures should not be shown in the table: a zero should be substituted.

2.4.7 Pension benefits as at 31st March 2017 *

Name & Title

Katherine Sheerin, Chief Officer
Tom Jackson, Chief Finance
Officer
Jane Lunt, Head of Quality, Chief
Nurse

2016/17
Real
Real increase Total accrued Lump sum at
increase in in pension
pension at
pension age
pension at lump sum at pension age
related to
pension age pension age at 31 March
accrued
2017
pension at 31
March 2017

Cash
Real Increase Cash Equivalent
Employers
Equivalent
in Cash
Transfer Value Contribution to
Transfer
Equivalent
at 31 March
stakeholder
Value at
Transfer value
2017
pension
1 April 2016

(bands of
£2,500)
£'000

(bands of
£2,500)
£'000

(bands of
£5,000)
£'000

(bands of £5,000)
£'000

2.5-5.0

2.5-5.0

45.0-50.0

120.0-125.0

646

68

714

0

2.5-5.0

2.5-5.0

40.0-45.0

110.0-115.0

596

65

661

0

0

0

55.0-60.0

105.0-110.0

798

10

808

0

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Notes:
Only staff included in the salary table in Section 4.4.6 above that are employees and members of the
NHS pension scheme are included in the table.
Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the
member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension
payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer
the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the
individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just
their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another
scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also
include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional
years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines
and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the increase
in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any
benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation
factors for the start and end of the period.

2.4.8 Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office *
During 2016/17 the CCG has not made any payments of compensation for early
retirement or for loss of office.
2.4.9 Payments to past members *
During 2016/17 the CCG has not made any payments to any past members.
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2.4.10 Pay multiples *
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid senior manager in their organisation and the median remuneration
of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid senior manager at Liverpool CCG in
the financial year 2016-17 was £155-£160k (2015-16, £155-£160k). This was 3.81
times the median remuneration of the workforce (2015-16, 3.84), which was banded
£40-45k (2015-16, £40-45k).
In 2016-17, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid Senior
Manager (2015-16, nil). Remuneration ranged from £15-£20K to £155-160K (201516 £15-20K to £155-160K).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay,
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions

Staff Report
2.4.11 Number of senior managers
The CCG employs a total of 9 senior managers on a VSM salary, including three
Governing Body members (Chief Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Chief Nurse).
2.4.12 Staff numbers and costs *
Staffing numbers by occupation can be summarised in the following table:

Admin & Estates

Permanent Employees
124

27

Medical & Dental

1

0

Nursing & Midwifery

3

1

Scientific/Therapeutic/Technical 1

-

Total

28

129

Other*

Note: *Includes: FTC employees, agency workers and seconded workers (from external
organisations).

The staffing costs associated are summarised in the following table:
Employee benefits expenditure.
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Employee Benefits & Staff Numbers
Employee benefits
Employee benefits expenditure
Total

2016-17

Permanent
Employees

Total
£0
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages*
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS pension scheme
Other pension costs

7,207
684
841

Admin
Other

Programme

Permanent
Employees

Total

£0

£0

£0

£0

6,287
684
841

920

4,713
478
593

4,438
478
593

Admin
Other
£0
275

Permanent
Employees

Total

2015-16
Other

Total

£0

£0

£0

£0

2,494
206
248

1,849
206
248

645

6,583
581
846

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other post-employment benefits

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other employment benefits

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

8,732

7,812

920

5,784

5,509

275

2,948

2,303

645

8,010

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised

8,732

7,812

920

5,784

5,509

275

2,948

2,303

645

8,010

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

8,732

7,812

920

5,784

5,509

275

2,948

2,303

645

8,010

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits

-

*NHS Liverpool CCG policy is for all annual leave due to be taken in the year it is earned, the cost of leave earned but not taken is minimal and has not therefore been included in expenditure.

Note: NHS Liverpool CCG policy is for all annual leave due to be taken in the year it is earned, the
cost of leave earned but not taken is minimal and has not therefore been included in expenditure.

2.4.13 Staff composition
Breakdown of staff* by gender at the 31/3/2017:
Male

Female

Governing Body (office holders)

5

8

Very Senior Managers (not included above)**

5

4

Other members of staff

34

105

*This excludes workers seconded from external organisations, agency staff and contractors
** Employed on a VSM contract

2.4.14 Sickness absence data
Statistics
Published by
NHS Digital
from ESR Data
Warehouse

Figures Converted by
DH to Best Estimates
of Required Data Items

Name

OCS code

NHS Liverpool CCG

99A

Average FTE 2016
156

(Data table supplied by NHSE)
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Adjusted FTE days
lost to Cabinet
Office definitions
943

Average Sick
Days per FTE
6.1

FTE-Days
Available
56,821

FTE-Days recorded
Sickness Absence
1,530

2.4.15 Staff policies
The CCG is committed to an environment that promotes equality and embraces
diversity in its performance as an employer. It adheres to legal and performance
requirements and mainstreams its equality and diversity principles through its
policies, procedures and processes. To ensure that our policies do not have an
adverse impact in response to the requirements of The Equality Act 2010, policies
are screened for relevance during policy development processes and an impact
assessment conducted where necessary.
The CCG will take action when necessary to address any unexpected or
unwarranted disparities and monitor workforce and employment practices to ensure
that employment policies are fairly implemented. The Organisation is committed to
ensuring that staff receive appropriate awareness training in Equality and Diversity to
undertake their role. Equality and Diversity training is mandatory for all staff
commensurate with the duties that they are required to undertake.
We operate a fair and objective system for recruiting, which places emphasis on
individual skills, abilities and experience. This enables a full diversity of people to
demonstrate their ability to do a job. Selection criteria contained within our Job
Descriptions and Person Specifications are regularly reviewed to ensure that they
are justifiable and so do not unfairly discriminate directly or indirectly and are essential
for the effective performance of the role. We offer a guaranteed interview scheme
for disabled applicants who meet our essential selection criteria. We have ‘Positive
About Disabled People/2 Tick’ accreditation.
We are committed to making reasonable adjustments in the workplace, including
appropriate training, to support the continuation of employment. In our 2016 staff
survey, 100% of disabled respondents said the organisation had made adequate
adjustments to enable them to carry out work.
We strive to enable all staff to achieve their full potential in an environment of dignity
and mutual respect. This is underpinned by ensuring that every employee is in
possession of a Personal Development Plan (PDP) and is annually appraised in a
Performance Development Review (PDR). All employees are supported to develop
the skills and abilities they require to carry out their current and any likely future role
in the organisation.
2.4.16 Employee consultation and engagement
The CCG places a high importance on the delivery of effective communications,
involvement and engagement with all of its employees. It discharges these duties
through a variety of means including:
•

A weekly Friday morning ‘floor meeting’ which provides a valuable opportunity
for the Chief Officer and senior managers to brief staff on important matters
concerning the business and operations of the organisation, and to hear views
and news from all team members.

•

The CCG has a staff listening group, made up of staff representing their
department, to actively encourage two way communications between staff
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and management. The work of the group includes reviewing the staff survey
and supporting the development of a subsequent action plan, supporting the
delivery of the organisational development action plan, engaging on the
development of policies and the implementation of policies and discussing
general organisational issues or concerns.
•

A weekly electronic bulletin available to all staff that provides a short and
digestible summary of key internal and external issues of relevance to the
staff and CCG.

•

A new internal online intranet resource.

•

A staff suggestions mailbox for staff to post ideas if they would like to make
changes and improvements to the workplace.

•

A Healthy Workforce fund to support initiatives devised by the workforce, to
improve employee health, wellbeing and engagement.

In 2016 the CCG again participated in the NHS national staff survey, which is not a
mandated for CCGs. Staff embraced the opportunity to express their views with a
91% response rate to the survey questionnaire. The results of the survey were
shared with staff and overall the organisation scored significantly higher than average
in a number of questions, and for engagement in particular: having an appraisal;
effective communication between senior management and staff, staff involvement in
important decisions and managers acting on feedback.
Improvement can always be made and there were areas in the survey that we have
explored with staff, during dedicated staff survey sessions and in staff listening group
meetings, where we try to better understand our lower ranking areas and devise
solutions to these.
In March 2017 the CCG was awarded the Workplace Wellbeing Charter, one of only
three such awards in the country. This national accreditation recognises the CCG to
be an employer who is committed to the health and wellbeing of its workforce and is
a real testament to our staff, and particularly those who have taken a leadership role
in motivating colleagues.

2.4.17 Expenditure on consultancy
During the financial year ended 31st March 2017 the CCG spent £730,000 on external
consultancy. These consultants were engaged on a variety of projects and activities
across the CCG but the principal areas involved included: planning, engagement
and evaluation support to the Healthy Liverpool Programme; and a ‘capability &
capacity review’ carried out as part of the development of a financial recovery plan
and strategy required by NHSE.
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2.4.18 Off-payroll engagements
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day
and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017

35

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting

1

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

1

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

20

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

13

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

Existing off-payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a risk based
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the
right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
Table 2: New off-payroll engagements
For all new off-payroll engagements between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for
more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017
Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving
NHS Liverpool CCG the right to request assurance in relation to income
tax and National Insurance obligations
Number for whom assurance has been requested

1
0
1

Of which:
assurance has been received

0

assurance has not been received

1

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received.

0
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Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 2017.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the
financial year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

0

16

2.4.19 Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments *
Table 1: Exit Packages
Exit
package
cost band
(inc. any
special
payment
element
TOTALS

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

0

£s
N/A

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Cost of
other
departures
agreed

Total
number
of exit
packages

Total
cost of
exit
packages

0

£s
N/A

0

£s
N/A

Number of
departures
where special
payments have
been made

Cost of special
payment
element
included in exit
packages

0

£s
N/A

2.4.20 Analysis of Other Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early
retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the
service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice*
Exit payments following Employment
Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval**
TOTAL

Agreements
Number
0

Total Value of agreements
£000s
N/A

0

N/A

0

N/A

0
0

N/A
N/A

0

N/A

0

N/A

Katherine Sheerin

Name: Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer NHS Liverpool CCG
30th May 2017
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2.5 Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Liverpool CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and
Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special
payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial
Statements of this report from pages 96 onwards. An audit certificate and report is
also included in this Annual Report at page 93.

Katherine Sheerin
Name: Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer NHS Liverpool CCG
30th May 2017
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CASE STUDY: Fit for Me
Being active is the single most effective way to improve physical and mental health,
but Liverpool lags behind other parts of the country when it comes to physical
activity. Our vision is for Liverpool to be the most active major city outside London by
2021.
The Fit for Me social marketing campaign is part of a city-wide approach to achieving
this. Developed in partnership between Liverpool CCG and Liverpool City Council, it
aims to inspire people to become more physically active.
Based on local insight into some of the main barriers to participation in physical
activity, Fit for Me launched in summer 2016, highlighting that it doesn’t matter what
shape, size or age you are, or even how fit or active you currently are - being active
is for everyone. The campaign features ambassadors from across the city – local
people sharing real stories about how and why they have become more active, and
how this has improved their lives.

The

Fit
for
Me website
www.fitforme.info provides
information on free local classes and
groups, special offers, motivational
tips, and ideas about how and where
to get started.

During autumn 2016, a series of ‘10 minute motivations’ promoted the message that
adding just ten minutes more to your daily routine can make a big impact to your
health and wellbeing. In October the Fit for Me City Takeover offered local people a
two-week free pass to access taster sessions at participating sport and physical
activity providers across the city.
Since the campaign launched it’s had a huge presence in the city at a wide range of
events, and has gained extensive media coverage through partnerships with the
Liverpool Echo and Radio City. There’s also been a high level of digital engagement
via the Fit for Me website and social media channels. A recent evaluation indicated
that 50% of local people recalled having seen at least one element of the campaign
when prompted, and over the coming year there are plans to build on this success
and motivate even more people become more active.
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CASE STUDY: The Liverpool Diabetes Partnership
In early 2015, NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning group invested almost £3m in a
new integrated diabetes service as part of Healthy Liverpool. Two years on the
service is having a significant impact on the lives of local people.
Diabetes poses a significant challenge for the NHS, and is a major cause of death.
Estimates suggest that 8.3% of people in Liverpool might develop diabetes by 2030
unless more support is provided to help them take better care of their health and
wellbeing.
The Liverpool Diabetes Partnership (LDP) represents a considerable shift in focus
from hospital-based care to the delivery of care closer to home. People with diabetes
see consultants, nurses, dieticians and podiatrists in one of six community-based
clinics. They are given resource packs, agree a care plan tailored to their own
individual health and care needs, and are offered the opportunity to attend diabetes
education sessions. The service also aims to increase the knowledge base and skill
level of primary and community care health professionals who diagnose and treat
people with diabetes.
Clinicians
from
Aintree
University
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, the
Royal
Liverpool
and
Broadgreen
University Hospitals NHS Trust and
Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust,
work together to deliver care, with the
most specialised care continuing to be
delivered in hospital. LDP nurses
determine how best to support GP
practices and their patients – for example
attending diabetes clinics at the practice,
or spending time with nurses and GPs to discuss patients with complex needs.
Outcomes for patients have already improved significantly. There has been a 19%
improvement in the proportion of people with diabetes at risk of impaired vision;
becoming blind; kidney disease and kidney failure. 8% fewer people are having
strokes and heart attacks thanks to the LDP and the chances of a diabetes patient
developing a leg/foot ulcer and/or having an amputation have improved by 14%.
Staff from the LDP have also noticed a marked difference in the health and wellbeing
of their patients. At an event to look at lessons learned and how the partnership can
develop in the future, 89% of staff said they feel that the service removes barriers
between different settings of care, and 90% felt that the quality of care had improved
for people in Liverpool with diabetes. All members of the team said they would be
happy for a family member to be cared for by the LDP.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY
OF NHS LIVERPOOL CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group
(the CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 (the "Act"). The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’
Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted
and adapted by the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 (the “2016/17
GAM”) and the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Liverpool Clinical
Commissioning Group, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act and as set out in
paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies
published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring the
regularity of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion
on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice
published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General
(the “Code of Audit Practice”) and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical
Standards for Auditors. We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of
expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice as required by the
Act.
As explained in the Governance Statement the Accountable Officer is responsible for the
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's
resources. We are required under Section 21 (1)(c) of the Act to be satisfied that the CCG
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
are operating effectively.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and
the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial
and non-financial information in the Performance Report and the Accountability Report to
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identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for
our report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that
the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor
General in November 2016, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General
determined these criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit
Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended
31 March 2017, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS
Liverpool Clinical Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2017 and of its
expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
 the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of
Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the requirements of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
 the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and
adapted by the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the
requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012; and
 the other information published together with the audited financial statements in
the Performance Report and the Accountability Report for the financial year for
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which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the audited financial
statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if:
 in our opinion the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board; or
 we have referred a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Act
because we had reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, was
about to make, or had made, a decision which involved or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or was about to take, or had begun to take a course
of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a
loss or deficiency; or
 we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Act in the
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
 we have made a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Act in
the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
 we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Liverpool
Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the
Code of Audit Practice.

Robin J Baker
Robin Baker
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool
L3 1PS
30th May 2017
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3. THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016/17
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the Year Ended 31 March 2017
2016-17
Note

2015-16

£'000

£'000

Income from sale of goods and services

3

(33,070)

(27,062)

Other operating income

3

(169)

(954)

(33,239)

(28,016)

Total operating income
Staff costs

5

8,732

6,761

Purchase of goods and services

6

874,608

857,763

Provision expense

6

0

(400)

Other Operating Expenditure

6

4,752

4,360

Total operating expenditure

888,092

868,484

Net Operating Expenditure for the financial year

854,853

840,468

Other Comprehensive Expenditure

-

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2017

The notes on pages 103 to 133 form part of this statement.
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854,853

840,468

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2017
31 March 2017

31 March 2016

Note

£000

£000

9

6,418

11,355

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

1
10

1

Total current assets

6,419

11,356

Total assets

6,419

11,356

(44,836)

(66,075)

Total current liabilities

(44,836)

(66,075)

Total Liabilities Employed

(38,417)

(54,719)

General fund

(38,417)

(54,719)

Total taxpayers' equity:

(38,417)

(54,719)

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables

11

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

The notes on pages 103 to 133 form part of this statement.
The financial statements on pages 99 to 133 were approved by the Governing Body on 30 May
2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Katherine Sheerin
Accountable Officer
30 May 2017
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the Year Ended 31 March 2017
General
fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

(54,719)

-

-

(54,719)

(854,853)

-

-

(854,853)

(854,853)

-

-

(854,853)

Net funding

871,155

-

-

871,155

Balance at 31 March 2017

(38,417)

-

-

(38,417)

General
fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Total
reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

(38,704)

-

-

(38,704)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17

Balance at 1 April 2016

Changes in the Liverpool CCG taxpayers’
equity for 2016-17

Net operating expenditure for the financial
year

Net Recognised NHS CCG Expenditure for
the Financial Year

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Balance at 1 April 2015

Changes in the Liverpool CCG taxpayers
equity for 2015-16

Net operating expenditure for the financial
year

Net Recognised NHS CCG Expenditure for
the Financial Year

(840,468)

(840,468)

(840,468)

(840,468)

824,453

824,453

Net funding

101

Balance at 31 March 2016

(54,719)
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(54,719)

Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 31 March 2017

Note

2016-17

2015-16

£’000

£000

(854,853)

(840,468)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

3, 6

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables

9

4,937

(7,416)

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables

11

(21,239)

24,180

Provisions utilised

12

0

(350)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

12

0

(400)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

(871,155)

(824,454)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing

(871,155)

(824,454)

Net funding received

871,155

824,453

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities

871,155

824,453

(0)

(1)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the financial
year

1

2

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at
the End of the Financial Year

1

1

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

10

The notes on pages 103 to 133 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1.

Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups
shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the
Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 issued by the
Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual
follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which
is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be
most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group for
the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies
adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They have been
applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector
entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of
Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the Financial Statements are
prepared on the going concern basis.
1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
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1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public
sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are
not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.
1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption
accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM
Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective
adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account
for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of
performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where assets and
liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are
accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
1.5 Pooled Budgets
Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement
under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 the Clinical Commissioning
Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from
the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget
agreement.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the Clinical
Commissioning Group recognises:
•

The assets the Clinical Commissioning Group controls;

•

The liabilities the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs;

•

The expenses the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs; and,

•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income from the pooled budget
activities.

If the Clinical Commissioning Group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets”
arrangement, in addition to the above, the Clinical Commissioning Group recognises:
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•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified
according to the nature of the assets);

•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,

•

The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management
is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the
estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or, in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
1.6.1 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see
below) that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
•

Accruals, have been included in the financial statements to the extent that the CCG
recognises an obligation at the 31 March 2017 for which it had not been invoiced.
Estimates of accruals are undertaken by management based on the information
available at the end of the financial year, together with past experience.

•

Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Management have made an
assessment for the period ended 31 March 2017 and conclude that no provisions are
required as at 31 March 2017.

•

Better Care Fund accruals have been based upon information available at the year
end and a review of the joint commissioning group approved schemes.
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1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of
applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
•

Activity is accounted for in the financial year it takes place, and not necessarily when
cash payments are made or received. The Clinical Commissioning Group has a
robust process for identifying that activities have taken place and for identifying the
appropriate accounting period. Therefore the degree of estimation uncertainty is
considered to be low.

•

The prescribing accrual for the final month of the year is based upon forecasted
figures provided by the Business Services Authority and estimates undertaken by
management based on information available at the end of the financial year, together
with past experience. The total prescribing accrual as at 31/3/2017 was £14.3m
(2015-16 - £14.7m).

1.7 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that,
performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year,
that income is deferred.
1.8 Employee Benefits
1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which
the service is received from employees.
1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General
Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in
England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
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cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal
to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities are
not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is
charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the
retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
1.9

Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or
services have been received. They are measured at fair value of the consideration
payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical
Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when
all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
1.10 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
1.10.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the
inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments
are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to
achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a
reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated
and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.
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1.10.2

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the
amount of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return
on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
1.11 Services Received
The fair value of services received in the year is recorded under the relevant expenditure
headings within ‘operating expenses’.
1.12 Cash
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty
on notice of not more than 24 hours.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash is shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and that form an integral part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash
management.
1.13 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Clinical
Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
•

Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.70% (previously minus
1.55%)

•

Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.95% (previously minus 1%)
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•

Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (previously minus 0.8%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to
be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be
measured reliably.
1.14 Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (who from April 2017 will be known as NHS Resolution),
operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an
annual contribution to NHS Resolution which in return settles all clinical negligence claims.
The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
1.15 Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the
Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Clinical
Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to The NHS Litigation Authority and, in
return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership
contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to
operating expenses as and when they become due.
1.16 Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare
claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the scheme Clinical
Commissioning Group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the
claims.
1.17 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to
the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or
services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
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•

Held to maturity investments;

•

Available for sale financial assets; and,

•

Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.17.1

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit & Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts,
and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained,
are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair
value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning
group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest
earned on the financial asset.
1.17.2

Held to Maturity Assets

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.
1.17.3

Available for sale Financial Assets

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated
as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the other three financial asset
classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the
revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses
are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.
1.17.4

Loans & Receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments which are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise
by valuation techniques.
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The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any
financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired.
Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The
loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
a provision for impairment of receivables. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at
the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.
1.18 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical
Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been
received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged,
that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
1.18.1

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts,
and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained,
are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair
value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s
surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial
liability.
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1.18.2

Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are
carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of
the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
1.19 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT
and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.20 Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated
when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are
items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in
expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good
through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own
risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.21 Joint Operations
Joint operations are activities undertaken by the Clinical Commissioning Group in
conjunction with one or more other parties but which are not performed through a separate
entity. The Clinical Commissioning Group records its share of the income and expenditure;
gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows.
1.22 Research & Development
Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred,
except insofar as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the
benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to
the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement of
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Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit
from the project. It should be re-valued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is
calculated on the same basis as depreciation.
1.23 Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards
and Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17, all of which are subject to consultation:
•

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

•

IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DH bodies)

•

IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)

•

IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the
accounts for 2016-17, were they applied in that year.
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2.

Financial Performance Duties

Financial Performance Targets
Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
2016/17
National
Health
Service Act
Section

Duty

223H(1)

Expenditure not to exceed income

223I(2)

223I(3)

223J(1)

223J(2)

223J(3)

2016/17

Maximum

Performance

£’000

£’000

Duty
Achieved?

904,472
-

888,092
-

Yes

871,233

854,853

Yes

Capital resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified
matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use

-

-

does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

10,617

Capital resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in
Directions

Yes

2015/16
Maximum

2015/16

Performance

£’000

£’000

882,911
-

868,484
-

Yes

854,895

840,468

Yes

-

-

-

-

Yes

Yes

9,857

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes
-

Duty
Achieved?

10,961

10,580

Yes

Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial
year; and, income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts
accounted as received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross
basis). The cumulative surplus for the year ended 31 March 2017 was £16.38m (2015/16 - £14.43m).
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3.

Other Operating Revenue
2016-17

2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

89

25

64

-

Charitable and other contributions to
revenue expenditure: NHS

-

-

-

-

Charitable and other contributions to
revenue expenditure: non-NHS

5

-

5

87

32,981

58

32,923

27,062

164

9

155

867

33,239

92

33,147

28,016

Education, training and research

Non-patient care services to other
bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

Non-patient care services to other bodies includes income received from the local
authority in respect of public health services.
Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of
healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is
drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General
Fund.
4.

Revenue
2016-17

2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

Total

Admin

Programme

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

From rendering of services

33,239

92

33,147

28,016

Total

33,239

92

33,147

28,016

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives
no revenue from the sale of goods.
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5.

Employee Benefits & Staff Numbers

5.1

Employee benefits

5.1.1

Employee benefits expenditure
2016-17
Total

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages*
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS
pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure
Less recoveries in respect of
employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee
benefits including capitalised
costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding
capitalised costs

5.1.2

2015-16

Total
Permanent
Employees

Total

Total
Permanent
Employees

Total
Other

Total
Other

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

7,207
684

6,287
684

920
-

5,600
466

5,099
466

501
-

841
-

841
-

-

695
-

695
-

-

8,732

7,812

920

6,761

6,260

501

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,812
-

920
-

6,761
-

6,260
-

501
-

7,812

920

6,761

6,260

501

8,732

8,732

Average number of people employed
2016-17

2015-16

Total

Other

Permanent
Employees

Total

Number

Number

Number

Number

157

28

129

138

-

-

-

-

r

Total CCG (WTE)
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

*Tables 5.1.1 and 5.1.2 do not include expenses nor WTE for those governing body members not directly employed by the CCG.
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5.2 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
Please see page 88 of the annual report for staff sickness reported.
Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme. Where the Clinical
Commissioning Group has agreed early retirements, the additional costs would be met by
the Clinical Commissioning Group and not by the NHS Pension Scheme.
The Clinical Commissioning Group had one ill health retirement in 2016/17, £22K
(2015/16: Nil).

5.3

Exit packages agreed in the financial year

There were no exit packages agreed in the financial year (2015/16 - Nil)
5.4

Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.
Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit
scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to
be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying
scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal
to the contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five
years) and an accounting valuation every year. An outline of these follows:
5.4.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due
under the Scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to
recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and scheme members. The
last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31
March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be found on
the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
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For 2016-17, employers’ contributions of £841k in respect of staff pensions, were payable
to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2015-16: £695k) at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay.
The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now
based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review
used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website in June
2014. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 5.1.1
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6.

Operating Expenses
2016-17
Total
£000

2016-17
Admin
£000

2016-17
Programme
£000

2015-16
Total
£000

8,197
535
8,732

5,249
535
5,784

2,948
2,948

6,241
520
6,761

2,630
236,311
344,384
200
104,835

1,053
6
76
-

1,577
236,305
344,308
200
104,835

6,022
160,237
401,645
15
97,637

910
210
731
5,251
37
6,198
86

910
46
60
705
12
208
86

164
671
4,546
25
5,990
-

88,499
83,620
856
1,203
2,262
264
497
376
879,360

427
497
77
2
4,165

88,499
83,193
359
1,203
2,262
187
497
374
875,195

1,129
520
137
5,689
60
7,785
86
4
91,284
83,345
663
1,545
2,348
275
(400)
1,243
454
861,723

888,092

9,949

878,143

868,484

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body
members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and lay membership body and governing body
members
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other auditor’s remuneration
·
Internal audit services*
Other Services
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to other bodies
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

*Internal audit services during the year were provided by Mersey Internal Audit Agency, hosted
by The Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust. Internal audit costs
are included in Services from other NHS trusts.
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7.

Better Payment Practice Code

7.1

Measure of compliance
2016-17

2016-17

2015-16

2015-16

Number

£000

Number

£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year

15,822

256,436

14,410

130,979

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

15,405

250,910

13,693

125,362

97.36%

97.85%

95.02%

95.71%

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year

3,541

591,296

3,389

573,862

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target

3,373

587,507

3,220

564,247

95.26%

99.36%

95.01%

98.32%

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within
target

NHS Payables

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within
target

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Clinical Commissioning Group to aim to
pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice,
whichever is later. Currently the target set by the Department of Health is 95%.
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8.
8.1

Operating Leases
As lessee

Lease payments shown below include:Payments to Community Health Partnerships Ltd (CHP). These include the cost of use of
LIFT properties leased by CHP where the costs are not fully recovered from the occupants.
These are currently paid by the CCG as it commissions the services in these buildings. The
funding sits within the CCG allocation.
8.1.1 Payments recognised as an expense

2016-17

2015-16

Land
£000

Buildings
£000

Other
£000

Total
£000

Total
£000

Minimum lease payments

-

939

29

968

1,980

Total

-

939

29

968

1,980

Payments recognised as an
expense
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8.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
The CCG makes payments to Community Health Partnerships Ltd (CHP) in respect of
LIFT properties leased by CHP where the costs are not fully recovered from the
occupants; the services in these buildings are commissioned by the CCG. The CCG has
no future minimum lease payments in respect of these properties.

The CCG served formal notice on void costs for non-LIFT buildings within Liverpool to
NHS Property Services in June 2015, therefore the CCG has no future minimum lease
payments in respect of these buildings.

Subsequently, the following future minimum lease payments for Buildings are in respect of
the Clinical Commissioning Groups headquarters only:

2016-17
Buildings
£’000

2016-17
Other
£’000

2016-17
Total
£’000

2015-16
Buildings
£’000

2015-16
Other
£’000

2015-16
Total
£’000

Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years

217
1,304
1,159

15
-

232
1,304
1,159

1,304
1,376

-

1,304
1,376

Total

2,680

15

2,695

2,680

-

2,680
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9.

Trade & Other Receivables
Current

Current

2016-17
£000

2015-16
£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS Prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and other WGA accrued income
VAT
Other receivables and accruals

2,204
9
1,537
1,826
160
626
55
1

826
0
721
9,115
273
295
3
122

Total

6,418

11,355

There were no non –current receivables in 2016/17 (2015/16 – nil)
Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

-

-

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by
Government to provide funding to Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission services,
no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
An assessment of the credit quality of receivables neither past due or impaired concluded
that no credit scoring is considered necessary.
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9.1

Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2016-17

2015/16

£000

£000

824
368
535

8,377
907
368

1,727

9,652

£3k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial
date.
10.

Cash & Cash Equivalents
2016-17
£000
1
0
1

2015-16
£000
2
(1)
1

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

1
1

1
1

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts

-

-

Balance at 31 March 2017
Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not
included above

1

1

-

-

Balance at 1 April 2016
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2017
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11.

Trade & Other Payables

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total

Current
2016-17
£000

Current
2015-16
£000

2,312
5,328
8,004
26,976
107
105
2,004
44,836

9,010
4,603
22,081
25,381
91
107
4,802
66,075

There were no non–current payables in 2016/17 (2015/16 – nil)
No liabilities due in future years are included above under arrangements to buy out liability
for early retirement over 5 years. Other payables include £1,041k outstanding pension
contributions at 31 March 2017 (2015/16 £118k), from 2016/17 the clinical commissioning
group became responsible for collecting and paying over the pension contributions of the
Liverpool GPs.

12. Provisions
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England
is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims
relating to periods of care before establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
However, the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group.
There were no current or non –current provisions in 2016/17 (2015/16 – nil).

13.

Contingencies

The Clinical Commissioning Group has assessed that the likelihood of contingent assets
and liabilities is remote as at 31 March 2017.

14.

Clinical Negligence Costs

The value of provisions carried in the books of the NHS Litigation Authority in regard to
CNST claims as at 31 March 2017 was nil (2015-16 £39.5k).
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15.

Other Financial Commitments

The Clinical Commissioning Group has not entered into any non-cancellable contracts
(which are not leases, private finance initiative contracts or other service concession
arrangements).

16.

Financial Instruments

16.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard 7: Financial Instrument: Disclosure requires
disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is
not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial
instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be
typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The
Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather
than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical Commissioning Group in
undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within
parameters defined formally within the Clinical Commissioning Group’s standing financial
instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to
review by the Clinical Commissioning Group’s internal auditors.
16.1.1 Currency risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great
majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The
Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The Clinical Commissioning
Group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
16.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure,
subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25
years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National
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Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Clinical Commissioning Group has no
borrowings and therefore has no exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
16.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s revenue comes from
parliamentary funding, the Clinical Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit risk.
The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from
customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
16.1.4 Liquidity risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital
resource limits, which are funded from resources voted annually by Parliament. The
Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as need arises.
The Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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16.2 Financial assets

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2017

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2016

At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Loans and
Receivables

Available
for Sale

Total

2016-17
£000

2016-17
£000

2016-17
£000

2016-17
£000

-

3,741
2,452
1
1
6,195

-

3,741
2,452
1
1
6,195

At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Loans and
Receivables

Available
for Sale

Total

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

-

1,547
9,410
1
122
11,080

-

1,547
9,410
1
122
11,080
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16.3 Financial liabilities
At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Other

Total

2016-17
£000

2016-17
£000

2016-17
£000

-

7,640
36,984
44,624

7,640
36,984
44,624

At ‘fair
value
through
profit and
loss’

Other

Total

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000

-

13,613
52,264
65,877

13,613
52,264
65,877

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2017

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2016

17.

Operating Segments

The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one segment: Commissioning of Healthcare
Services.
Gross
expenditure
£'000

Income
£'000

Net
expenditure
£'000

Commissioning
of Healthcare
Services

888,092

(33,239)

854,853

Total

888,092

(33,239)

854,853
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Total
assets
£'000

Total
liabilities
£'000

Net
liabilities
£'000

6,419

(44,836)

(38,417)

6,419

(44,836)

(38,417)

18.

Pooled Budgets

The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into the following pooled budget
arrangements with Liverpool City Council.
Integrated Community Equipment and Disability Advice Services
A partnership agreement was entered into by the predecessor organisation, Liverpool
Primary Care Trust (using powers under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act
2006), to ‘pool’ budgets from the two organisations for the creation of a single budget for
the provision of Integrated Community Equipment and Disability Advice Services
(ICEDAS). This Partnership came into effect on 1 January 2004.
Liverpool CCG (LCCG) acts as lead commissioner in this agreement and procures this
service from Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust (LCH) with Liverpool City Council
(LCC) contributing to the service through payments made to the CCG.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income and expenditure handled by the
pooled budget in the financial year were:
2016-17

2015-16

£000’s

£000’s

1,014

1,004

493

485

LCCG Expenditure

5,057

4,927

Combined Commissioner ICEDAS Expenditure with LCH

6,564

6,416

2016-17

2015-16

ICEDAS CCG Financial Statements

£000’s

£000’s

Note 2 - Non-patient care services to other bodies

(1,014)

(1,004)

Note 5 - Services from other NHS trusts

6,071

5,931

Net Expenditure

5,057

4,927

ICEDAS
LCC Expenditure (through CCG)
LCC Expenditure (Staff Costs)
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Better Care Fund
With effect from 1st April 2015, the CCG has had arrangements in place (using powers
under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006) to operate a pooled budget for
the required Better Care Fund arrangements.
The Better Care Fund functions as a joint operation, consequently the CCG has
recognised expenditure in 2016/17 when an obligation has arisen. Liverpool City Council
operates as Lead Commissioner for services and transactions have been accounted for
accordingly as per the CCG’s accounting policies.
The CCG contribution to the pooled budget in 2016/17 was £41,371k which was used to
commission a range of health and social care services in line with the agreed objectives of
the BCF. This contribution to the BCF is recognised within the financial statements as
CCG expenditure. Total BCF expenditure across Liverpool CCG & Liverpool City Council
was £66,146K (2015-16: £63,815K).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income and expenditure compared to
the previous financial year were:
2016-17

2015-16

Better Care Fund

£000’s

£000’s

LCC Expenditure

24,775

24,619

LCCG Baseline Expenditure

1,409

1,259

LCCG Expenditure (through LCC)

39,962

37,937

Combined Commissioner Expenditure

66,146

63,815

2016-17

2015-16

Better Care Fund - CCG Financial Statements

£000’s

£000’s

Note 2 - Non-patient care services to other bodies

0

0

Note 5 - Services from foundation trusts

1,409

1,259

Note 5 - Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies

39,962

37,937

Net Expenditure

41,371

39,196
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19.

Related Party Transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

Name of Governing
Body member

Dr Simon Bowers
Dr Janet Bliss
Dr Nadim Fazlani
Dr Rosie Kaur
Dr Monica Khuraijam
Dr F Lemmens
Dr Fiona OgdenForde
Dr Maurice Smith
Dr Shamim Rose

Practice

Payments
to related
party
£'000

Fulwood Green
Medical Centre
The Grey Road
Surgery
Edge Hill Health
Centre
Anfield Group
Practice
Oak Vale Medical
Centre
Aintree Group
Practice
Robson Street
Practice/Mere Lane
NBH Centre
Mather Avenue
Surgery
Garston Family
Health Centre

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£'000

Receipts from
Related Party
£'000

Amounts due
from Related
Party
£'000

1,034

-

32

-

914

-

63

-

1,522

-

35

-

812

-

46

-

1,299

-

54

-

2,245

-

99

-

473

-

12

-

1,339

-

47

-

687

-

13

-

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. In the financial year 2016-17 the Clinical Commissioning Group
has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent,
including:
•

NHS England

•

NHS Business Services Authority.

•

Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust

•

Aintree University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

•

Liverpool Community Health NHS Trust

•

Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust

•

Liverpool Women’s Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

•

Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust

•

North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust

•

St Helens and Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust

•

Liverpool Heart and Chest NHS Foundation Trust

•

Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust

•

NHS Midlands and Lancashire CSU

•

Community Health Partnership

•

NHS Property Services

In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government
departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Liverpool City
Council.
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20.

Events After the Reporting Period

As part of our work around the nationally mandated Sustainability and Transformation
Plans, we are working together with NHS Southport and Formby CCG and NHS South
Sefton CCG through the North Mersey Local Delivery System. Discussions are ongoing
regarding bringing together our transformational programmes, Shaping Sefton and Healthy
Liverpool, in order to strengthen local commissioning. In the future, this may mean
organisational reconfiguration and as at the 31 March 2017 discussions are ongoing
between the three organisations.
21.

Losses & Special Payments

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any losses nor any special payments
cases during 2016/17 (2015/16 – nil)
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